
 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
TUESDAY, JUNE 09, 2020 

REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

6:00 PM 

 
PLEASE CLICK THE LINK BELOW TO JOIN THE WEBINAR:  

HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/84629014139 

 

OR IPHONE ONE-TAP :  

    US: +13462487799,,84629014139#  OR +16699009128,,84629014139#  

OR TELEPHONE: 

    DIAL(FOR HIGHER QUALITY, DIAL A NUMBER BASED ON YOUR CURRENT LOCATION): 

        US: +1 346 248 7799  OR +1 669 900 9128  OR +1 253 215 8782  OR +1 312 626 6799  OR +1 646 558 8656  OR +1 301 

715 8592  

    WEBINAR ID: 846 2901 4139 

    INTERNATIONAL NUMBERS AVAILABLE: HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/U/KDBDA17QHH 
 

 

Work Session 

One Delta County Presentation 

Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests 
1. Visitors & Guests 

2. One Delta County - Economic Development Participation & Intergovernmental Agreement 

Consent Agenda 

3. Regular Minutes: 

May 12, 2020 

Disbursements 
4. Treasurer’s Report 

5. Disbursements 

Unfinished Business 
6. Town Administrator Contract 

7. Personnel Liaison Group Appointment – Mayoral Appointment 

8. Planning Commission Vacancy - Mayoral Appointments 

9. Personnel Handbook Modification – Addition of Protection from Retaliation 

10. Discussion Regarding Open Meetings and Public Participation Options 

New Business 
11. Minnesota Creek Sewer Line Mitigation Bid Award  

12. Resolution 2020-11 Local Disaster Declaration Extension  

13. Resolution 2020-12 Administrative Modification of Liquor License and Encroachment for Outdoor 

Dining in Town Right-of-Way 

Staff Reports 

14. Administrator’s Report 

Public Works 

Police Report 

     Municipal Judge Update 

1



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

Mayor’s Report 
15. Mayor’s Report 

Committee Reports 
16. Finance & Personnel 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Space to Create 

Tree Board 

Adjournment 
17. Adjournment 

  

2



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the even the Board plans to discuss more than one 

of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the announcement 

of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into executive session, 

there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

One Delta County Presentation 

Summary:   

Elyse Casselberry, Delta County Community & Economic Director, Larry Wilkening, 

Hotchkiss Mayor, and Kami Collins, Cedaredge Town Clerk & Economic Coordinator are 

attending to provide an update regarding One Delta County – an economic alliance of all Delta 

County governmental entities and request Town of Paonia support. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

5



ONE DELTA COUNTY IMPLEMENTATION  

 

Meeting Dates: June 1, 2020 

  June 15, 2020 

  June 29, 2020 

  July 6, 2020 

GOAL: July 6, 2020 Establishment 

 

1. Outstanding Planning 

Committee Task Timeline 
Bylaws Committee ● Finalize Articles of 

Incorporation Amendment 

 

May 29, 2020 

Bylaws Committee ● Add language to Bylaws to 
support 501C3 status 

 

May 29, 2020 

Work Plan Committee ● Update Work Plan to 
include evaluation of 501C6 
entity 

 

July 1, 2020 

Agreements Committee ● Finalize Project Manager 
job description, hiring 
process 

 

July 1, 2020 

Bylaws Committee (with help 
from work plan?) 

● Finalize “policy & 
procedures”  

 

June 15, 2020 

 

2. Actions required to stand up One Delta County 

Committee/Individual Task Timeline 
Amy Crick, LaDonna Gunn, 
Caryn Gibson, Don Suppes 

● DCED to approve 
amendments to Articles of 
Incorporation and new 
bylaws 

 

June 15, 2020  

6



Elyse, Larry Wilkening, Kami 
Collins, Cally Gallegos, Corinne 
Ferguson, Kevin Carlson, Mike 
Lane 

● Local Governments to adopt 
IGA and appoint board 
members 

Cedaredge 
 
Crawford 
Delta 
Hotchkiss 
Orchard City  
 
Paonia 
 
Delta County 
 

 

June 30, 2020 
 
 
 

6/16 Work Session 
 
6/17 IGA on Agenda 
6/2    IGA on Agenda 
6/11 IGA on Agenda 
6/3 Work session 
6/10 IGA on Agenda 
6/9 IGA on Agenda (Larry too 
please) 
End of June meeting post 
municipal meetings 

 

Fred Carlson, Courtney Roland, 
Anne, Chris Caskey, Lisa Carlson, 
Kim Guthrie Burch, Greg Pope 

● Business community 
appoint board members 

 

June 30, 2020 

 ● Adopt MOU with County July 6, 2020 

County ● Advertise, interview, hiring 
process (per mou/IGA), 
make hire 

 

August 1, 2020 

 
3. Actions required to Begin Operations 

● Establish Officers & Committees 
● Establish Accounting 
● Communication with existing DCED membership & partners 
● Update and change all State/IRS documents 
● Begin implementing work plan 

7



 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT TO  
SUPPORT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN  

DELTA COUNTY, CITY OF DELTA, TOWNS OF CEDAREDGE, ORCHARD CITY, HOTCHKISS, AND CRAWFORD 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this  day of  , 2020, by and between Delta County, the City of 
Delta, and the Towns of Cedaredge, Orchard City, Cedaredge, Hotchkiss, and Crawford, collectively referred to as 
"local governments." 
 

WHEREAS, the local governments share a collective interest in economic development in Delta County, and 
have shared interest in ensuring that economic development in Delta County serve the needs of all communities, 
residents, and business; and 

WHEREAS, the local governments have been working together in partnership with businesses and other 
economic development interests to create a new economic development alliance that will help achieve the goal of 
economic development for all of Delta County; and 

WHEREAS, through the course of establishing the new economic development alliance, local governments 
have been tasked with funding the capacity of the new economic development alliance, and have agreed to provide 
such funding, and  

WHEREAS, the local governments have agreed upon a formulaic share of anticipated costs for providing 
capacity, whereby the City of Delta and the Towns of Cedaredge, Orchard City, Hotchkiss, and Crawford will provide 
funds directly to Delta County with the intent that Delta County will hire a project manager to support the new 
economic development alliance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of their mutual rights and obligations as set forth below, the local 
governments agree as follows: 
 

1.  AUTHORITY FOR AGREEMENT. 
a. This Intergovernmental Agreement is being entered into by the local governments pursuant to the 

authority granted to local governments in Colorado Revised Statute 29-1-203, which allows 
governments to cooperate or contract with one another to provide any function, service, or facility 
lawfully authorized to each of the cooperating or contracting units. 

 
2.  TERM OF AGREEMENT, WITHDRAWAL OR DISSOLUTION. 

a. Subject to the provisions of Subparagraph 2.     b, the term of this Agreement shall continue through 
December 31, 2022. This agreement may be extended by mutual agreement annually thereafter.  

b. The local governments acknowledge that their obligations under this Agreement are subject to 
annual appropriation by the governing body of each respective party and shall not constitute or give 
rise to a general obligation or other indebtedness of either party within the meaning of any 
constitutional or statutory provision or limitation of the State of Colorado nor a mandatory charge or 
requirement against any party in any ensuing fiscal year beyond the current fiscal year. 

c. If the governing body of any party shall fail to budget and appropriate funds for its share of expenses, 
in accordance with Paragraph 3 hereof, then the local government that does not appropriate funds 
shall no longer be party to this agreement, and shall no longer be a voting member of the Board of 
Directors of the new economic development alliance.  

d. In the event any local government fails to appropriate funds for its share of expenses, in accordance 
with Section III     , the remaining local governments shall adjust the formulaic share of the total 
anticipated annual costs between those local governments that choose to continue to participate in 
this agreement, or come to a mutually agreed upon split of any anticipated costs resulting from any 
local government ceasing to be party to this agreement. 

e. In the event the Town of Paonia allocates funds for fiscal year 2020 or any year thereafter, an 
amendment to this agreement shall be executed by all parties, and costs reapportioned in accordance 
with Paragraph 3.  

 

8



 

3. APPORTIONMENT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CAPACITY EXPENSES. 
a. All costs to cover the salary and benefits for a project manager to support the new economic 

development alliance shall be shared equitably by the local governments. The intent is to share the 
cost of this agreement in the same manner that the County’s sales tax is shared with the 
municipalities. In year 2020 the County and City of Delta will commit to providing a higher percentage 
of the share of costs picking up a portion of each of the smaller local governments’ share of expenses 
thereby allowing the smaller local governments to ease into the extra costs of participation, and 
thereby absorbing costs not covered due to the Town of Paonia being unable to participate in 2020. 
All costs and expenses for Fiscal Year 2020 for providing salary and benefits for a full-time project 
manager to support the new economic development alliance shall be shared as followed based on a 
projected expense of $65,994, subject to change as mutually agreed upon:  

● Delta County: 62% or $40,838 
● City of Delta: 30% or $20,000 
● Orchard City: 3.6% or $2,405 
● Cedaredge: 2.6% or $1,738 
● Hotchkiss: 1% or $681 
● Crawford: .5% or $332 

b. It is understood and agreed that this apportionment shall be re-evaluated during the fall of 2020 and 
each succeeding year and may be amended as agreed upon by all parties. It is further recognized that 
the cost of salary or benefits are subject to change. The goal is to share costs based on the following:  

 
 

Year 2021: 
Delta County 62% of the total cost 
City of Delta: 23% of the total costs 
Orchard City: 5.46% of the total costs 
Cedaredge: 3.9% of the total costs 
Hotchkiss: 1.5% of the total costs 
Crawford: .75% of the total costs 
 

Year 2022: 
Delta County 60% of the total cost 
City of Delta: 21% of the total costs 
Orchard City: 7.3% of the total costs 
Cedaredge: 5.3% of the total costs 
Hotchkiss: 2.1% of the total costs 
Crawford: 1% of the total costs 
 

 
c. The above apportionment does not cover 100% of anticipated costs as the original formula used to 

determine each local government’s equitable contribution was based on participation of seven local 
governments. The local governments will have to determine how to cover any additional costs in 
future years in an equitable manner based on the total number of participating local governments. 
Should the Town of Paonia decide to join this agreement, their share of the costs would be based on 
the following:  

● 2020: 1.7% of the total costs 
● 2021: 2.54% of the total costs 
● 2022: 3.4% of the total costs 

 
4.  Hiring, firing, management, and human resources responsibility. 

a. Delta County shall be responsible for all personnel liability for the project manager, including liability 
insurance, FICA expenses, workers’ compensation, and all other employee benefits. 

b. Delta County shall be responsible for the management and mentorship of the project manager. The 
intent is for the project manager to report directly to the Community & Economic Development 
Director. The County Administrator may, at their discretion, choose to be the direct supervisor of the 
project manager.  

c. Prior to hiring the project manager, Delta County shall convene a hiring committee with 
representatives from each local government and the Board of Directors of the new economic 
development alliance. The committee shall assist in reviewing applications, selecting finalists, the 
interview process, and make recommendations to the County. The County shall consider this input in 
the final hiring decision.  

9



 

d. Delta County retains the rights as an employer to discipline the project manager including but not 
limited to termination of employment for lack of performance, violations of Delta County employee 
policies as outlined in the Delta County Employee Handbook, state law, or federal law. 

e. Delta County shall seek input from the new economic development alliance Board of Directors prior 
to completing any performance reviews and shall take input received into consideration when 
completing said performance review. 

f. Delta County shall notify the local governments within two weeks should disciplinary actions result 
in the termination of employment of the project manager. In compliance with state and federal laws, 
the specific details regarding termination shall not be provided given the confidentiality of personnel 
matters. 

 
5.  COMMITMENT TO SUPPORT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ALLIANCE. 

a. The project manager hired by Delta County shall serve as staff for the economic development alliance 
Board of Directors including organizing meetings, board training and development, following up on 
tasks directed by the economic development alliance Board of Directors, and implementing the 
programs and services included in the economic development alliance annual work plan. 

b. The project manager shall be dedicated full time to One Delta County, but shall also work in 
partnership with the County’s Tourism Cabinet and Coordinator to ensure cohesion in marketing and 
promotions of Delta County; the Chambers of Commerce, Region 10, local governments, and other 
economic development partners. 

c. The project manager shall represent Delta County and the economic development alliance on boards 
and commissions deemed appropriate by either Delta County or by the economic development 
alliance such as, but not limited to, the workforce board, regional economic development councils or 
committees, or community economic development committees.   

 
6. ADOPTION OF AGREEMENT BY ORDINANCE AND LEGALLY BINDING STATUS. 

a. This Agreement shall be deemed in force when the same has been adopted by ordinance or resolution 
of all the participating local governments. 

 
7. AMENDMENTS. 

a. This Agreement may be amended, modified, changed, or terminated in whole or in part only by a 
written agreement duly authorized and executed by each local government in the same manner as 
this Agreement. 

 
8. SEVERABILITY. 

a. Should any of the provisions of this Agreement be held to be invalid or unenforceable, then the 
balance of this Agreement shall be held to be in full force and effect as though the invalid portion was 
not included. 
 

9. GOVERNING LAW. 
a. This Agreement shall be governed by, and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the State of 

Colorado, and venue for any action arising out of any dispute hereunder shall be in the Delta County 
District Court of the State of Colorado. 

 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and intending to be legally bound hereby, in accordance with proper ordinance of each of the 
governing bodies of the municipalities, we have hereunto caused this instrument to be executed the day and year 
written above. 
 
 
 
 

10



 

Delta County: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Chair 
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
County Clerk 
 
 
City of Cedaredge: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Town of Crawford: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
Town Clerk 
 
 
City of Delta: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Mayor  
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Town of Hotchkiss: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
Town Clerk 

11



 

Town of Orchard City: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Town of Paonia: 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
________________________________________________ 
Town Clerk 
 

12



ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF  

ONE DELTA COUNTY: AN ECONOMIC ALLIANCE, 

INC. 

A NONPROFIT CORPORATION 

(Amended January 8, 2009) 

(Amended to Reflect Name Change April 22, 

2009) 

(Amended June 15, 2020) 

 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Colorado Corporation Code, 

the undersigned Corporation adopts the following Articles of 
Amendment and its Articles of Incorporation and restates the 
Articles of Incorporation: 

 

ARTICLE 

I NAME 

The Corporate name of said Corporation shall be ONE 
DELTA COUNTY: AN ECONOMIC ALLIANCE, INC. (per vote of the 
Board of Directors, June 15, 2020). 
 
Principal Street Address: 122 W. Third St., Delta, 

Colorado 8

1416  

ARTICLE II 

DURATION 
 

The period of duration of the corporation shall be 
perpetual. 

 

Commented [1]: I realized I changed the "original" 
articles and added the yellow. Do we need to do 
"amended June 15" and then put the name change an 
principle address? 

13



ARTICLE III 

PURPOSES 

The purposes for which the Corporation is formed is to promote the 
common interests of all residents of Delta County, Colorado, including 
its businesses, cities and towns, for the enhancement of economic 
conditions and the economic base of the county, encouraging development 
of new and existing businesses and local industry and improvement of 
employment opportunities for the residents of the county. In 
particular, the Corporation is organized as a non-profit 
corporation pursuant to the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of 
the United States Internal Revenue Code. The Corporation is not 
formed for any pecuniary or financial gain and no part of its 
assets, income or profit of the Corporation shall be 
distributable to, or inure to the benefit of the Directors and 
Officers of the Corporation except to the extent permitted by 
the not-for-profit corporation laws of the State of Colorado and 
the United States Internal Revenue Service. The Corporation shall 
not devote any of its activities or assets to conducting 
propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, not 
shall the Corporation participate in, intervene in (including 
the publishing or distributing of statements) of any political 
campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to any candidate for 
public office. The Corporation shall not discriminate against 
any person on the grounds or race, color, creed, national origin, 
sex or disability. 

  

The Articles of Incorporation shall be amended to read (as of 
June 15, 2020):  

The Purpose of the Corporation is to promote, strengthen and 
enhance Delta County's economic base including the towns and 
municipalities of Cedaredge, Crawford, Delta, Hotchkiss, Orchard 
City and Paonia and to increase the standard of living for all 
residents through retention, expansion, attraction, and 
development of new businesses and industry that pay a livable wage 
and to encourage commercial capital investments.  Specifically, 
this purpose includes the promotion of workforce enhancement, 
agriculture and agriculture related enhancement, commercial and 
manufacturing enhancement, education and business development and 
collaboration with our partners to achieve economic 
diversification and resilience.  A tertiary purpose is to increase 
the amount of private investment to lessen the burden on local 
governments in promoting economic development. In particular, the 
Corporation is organized as a non-profit corporation pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal 

14



Revenue Code. The Corporation is not formed for any pecuniary or 
financial gain and no part of its assets, income or profit of the 
Corporation shall be distributable to, or inure to the benefit of 
the Directors and Officers of the Corporation except to the extent 
permitted by the not-for-profit corporation laws of the State of 
Colorado and the United States Internal Revenue Service. The 
Corporation shall not discriminate against any person on the 
grounds or race, color, creed, national origin, sex or disability. 
 

ARTICLE IV 

ADDRESS 

The name and address of the original incorporator 
is: Kevi
n McMullan, 715 Willow Wood Lane, Delta, Colorado 81416. 
 

The name and address of the amender to the original 
incorporation is: Bradley Harding, 150 Gunnison 
River Dr., 

Delta, CO 81416 
 

The current registered office and registered 

agent are: Registered Agent: Tom Huerkamp 

Address of Registered Office: 
Delta Area Development, Inc. 
122 W. Third 
Street Delta, 
CO
 81
416 

 
ARTICLE V  

The Articles of Incorporation shall be amended to read (as of 
June 15, 2020):  

REGULATION OF AFFAIRS 

A. The members of the Corporation shall be those 
individuals who subscribe to the purposes and basic policies of 
the Corporation and who evidence such compliance by subscribing 
thereto in writing as provided by the Board of Directors. Members 
must reside, work or conduct business in Delta County and its 
environs. Membership in the Corporation shall be available 

15



without regard to race, color, creed, national origin, sex, 
sexual orientation or disability. 
 

B. The first Board of Directors shall promptly adopt the 
Bylaws of this Corporation, which Bylaws, among its other 
provisions, shall prescribe the number of Directors, not fewer 
than three, to constitute the Board of Directors. 
 

C. Except as provided above for the initial Board members, 
each Director shall serve for a term of three (3) years or until 
a successor is elected. Any vacancies in the Board of Directors 
shall be filled as provided by the Bylaws of the Corporation. 
The Board of Directors shall elect the successor Directors as 
provided by the Bylaws. Nothing shall prohibit a member of the 
Board of Directors from serving successive terms.  
 

D. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the 
direction and conduct of the affairs of the Corporation, 
including 
(1) its effectiveness in meeting the chartered purposes; (2) its 
adequacy of financing; (3) the validation of its objectives and 
activities to its contributors and beneficiaries; and (4) its 
cooperation with other agencies which are active in the same or 
related fields and with tax supported and private organizations. 
 

ARTICLE VI 

POWERS 

The Corporation shall have all the powers, not inconsistent 
with the express provisions of these Articles of Incorporation, 
which are granted corporations under the laws of the State of 
Colorado and pursuant to the Colorado Non-Profit Corporation Act 
as now enacted or as hereinafter amended, including without 
limitation; 
(1) the power to adopt and amend the Bylaws; (2) the power to 
amend these Articles of Incorporation; and (3) the power to 
indemnify any Director or Officer of the Corporation for expenses 
and costs (including attorneys’ fees) actually and necessarily 
incurred by him in court or otherwise, by reason of his being or 
having been such Director or Officer. This provision, however, 
shall not relieve a Director or Officer from acts of negligence 
or misconduct in the performance of duty. 
 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 
Corporation shall exercise only such powers as are in the 
furtherance of the exempt purposes of organizations set forth in 

16



Subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue code of 1954, as 
now enacted and amended, under which the Corporation chooses to 
qualify for exemption, as the same now exists or may hereinafter 
be amended from time to time. At no time shall the Corporation 
engage, otherwise than as an insubstantial part of its 
activities, in activities which, in themselves, are not in 
furtherance of one or more exempt purposes. The Corporation shall 
not amend these Articles of Incorporation in any way which would 
permit the Corporation to pursue activities which are not 
exclusively for the purposes set forth in Article III above and 
no amendment of these Articles of Incorporation may be made which 
would allow the Corporation to use any income or assets for 
purposes which are not exclusively for the same enumerated 
purposes. 

 
ARTICLE VII DISSOLUTION 

 
In the event of the dissolution of this Corporation, for 

whatever cause, the Board of Directors shall liquidate the 
Corporation by disposing of such assets as may be necessary to 
pay its obligations, and shall thereafter apply all the remaining 
assets to such exclusively charitable purposes as set forth in 
Article III above as may be determined by the Board of Directors, 
or to state or local governments for public purposes, or to 
organizations for exclusively charitable and other enumerated 
purposes as set forth in Article III above. The Board of 
Directors is authorized to make, through its proper officers, 
all necessary or proper deeds of conveyance, bills of sale, and 
other legal instruments to vest title to the corporate properties 
in the officials or bodies conducting the undertakings which are 
to receive such bounties. In no event, however, shall any 
corporate properties, net income or assets be delivered to any 
corporate director, committee, board, fund, foundation, 
institution or person which would cause such properties, net 
income or assets to inure either directly or indirectly to the 
benefit of any member, director or individual having a personal 
or private interest in the activities of this Corporation. The 
assets shall be used or distributed exclusively for purposes 
within the intent and contemplation of Subsection 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code as the same now exists or as it may be 
amended from time to time. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

DIRECTORS 

The Directors of the Corporation shall not be less than 

17



three nor more than nine. Each Director shall be a resident of 
Delta County, Colorado, and a member of the Corporation. Each 
member of the initial Board of Directors shall serve for a term 
of one, two or three years as set forth below. Thereafter 
Directors shall serve for a term of three years. The number of 
directors constituting the initial Board of Directors shall be 
eleven. The names and addresses of the persons who are to serve 
as Directors until the first meeting of the Corporation or until 
their successors are elected are: 
 
Kevin McMullan John Welfelt 
715 Willow Wood Lane 2259 H 75 Road 
Delta, CO 81416 Delta, CO 81416  

Karen O’Brien 
1779 Clearview Drive 
Delta, CO 81416 
 

The Articles of Incorporation shall be amended to read 
(as of 1/08/2009: 
 

The Directors of the Corporation shall not be less than 
three nor more than fourteen. Each Director must reside, work or 
conduct business in Delta County and its environs, and a member 
of the Corporation. Membership in the Corporation shall be 
available without regard to race, color, creed, national origin, 
sex, sexual orientation or disability. Each member of the Board 
of Directors shall serve for a term of three years. The number 
of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall be 
expanded to fourteen. Tax-collecting entities within Delta 
County, Colorado, who contribute over $5,000 per year in 
financial assistance to Delta Area Development, Inc. shall have 
a seat on the Board of Directors, should they so desire. At the 
time of this amendment, the tax- collecting entities providing 
over $5,000 per year in financial assistance to Delta Area 
Development, Inc. are: 
 

City of Delta Delta County 
PO Box 19 501 Palmer Street, #227 
Delta, CO 81416 Delta, CO 81416 

 
Delta County Memorial 
Hospital 1501 E. 3rd 
Street 
Delta, CO 81416 
 

The Articles of Incorporation shall be amended to read (as of 

18



June 15, 2020):  

 
The Board of Directors shall consist of a minimum of three (3) 
members and no more than twenty-six (26) members of the 
Corporation. 

  
a.    Municipal Directors:  The elected governing bodies of the 
municipal and county governments of Delta County (as listed below), 
provided they are investing members of the Corporation as agreed 
upon in an Intergovernmental Agreement, shall be entitled to 
designate an elected official or paid-staff member to be a voting 
member of the Corporation’s Board of Directors.  Only one (1) may 
be designated from each of the government bodies listed below: 

  
1.       Delta County, Board of Commissioners 
2.       Town of Cedaredge, Board of Trustees 
3.       Town of Crawford, Town Council 
4.       City of Delta, City Council 
5.       Town of Hotchkiss, Town Council 
6.       Town of Orchard City, Board of Trustees 
7.       Town of Paonia, Board of Trustees 

 

The Corporation shall have no more than seven (7) seats occupied 
by the above governing bodies. The defined government bodies may 
appoint either an elected official or paid-staff member as a proxy 
to represent their entity on the Corporation’s Board of Directors.  

  

Inasmuch as the representative of the county and municipalities 
are appointed because of their representative capacity, in the 
event any such Director ceases to be the designated representative 
of the agency who appointed such Director, such person's membership 
on the Board of Directors shall terminate. 

  
b.    Entity Directors:  The following entities, who invest in the 
Corporation in the amounts determined by the Board of Directors, 
shall each have one (1) voting member represented on the Board of 
Directors: 

  
1.    Delta Montrose Electric Association 
2.    Delta County Hospital District 

19



3.    Delta County Library District 
4.    Delta County School District 

  
c.    Chamber of Commerce Directors:  Towns or regions that have 
formal chambers or entities participating in economic development 
and are members making cash investments in the Corporation, in an 
amount at least in the minimum eligible level to become Board 
members, may appoint one representative per community to become a 
voting member of the Corporation’s Board of Directors.  The 
Corporation shall have no more than six (6) seats occupied by the 
above entities. 

  
d.    Elected Business Directors:  The Corporation shall have seven 
(7) seats available for Delta County businesses, who are current 
voting members of the Corporation.  The business members of the 
Board of Directors will be elected by the eligible business voting 
members of the Corporation.  At least one (1) business will 
represent agriculture. a.       As set forth in the Amended and 
Restated Articles of Incorporation, the initial business members 
of the Board of Directors will serve staggered terms with one (1) 
director serving for one (1) year, three (3) directors serving for 
two (2) years, and three (3) directors serving for three (3) years. 
Thereafter, business members shall be elected to three (3) year 
terms and shall take office immediately following their election. 
The initial business members of the Board of Directors will serve 
staggered terms with one (1) director serving for one (1) year, 
three (3) directors serving for two (2) years, and three (3) 
directors serving for three (3) years. Thereafter, business 
members shall be elected to three (3) year terms and shall take 
office immediately following their election. 

  
e.    Ex-Officio Members:  The immediate past President of the Board 
of Directors shall be a voting member of the Board for one (1) 
year.  This one-year term does not count toward the required one-
year absence from the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors 
can appoint additional non-voting ex-officio members to provide 
advice and expertise as needed. 

  
g.    No business or public entity may have more than one (1) voting 
member at a time.  In the event that a seated Director changes 
jobs and his/her employer has an existing seat on the Corporations’ 
Board of Directors, the Director will submit his/her resignation 
within thirty (30) days of the change.  Should that Director hold 
an office within the Corporation, the Director shall remain in 

20



place through the term of the office. 

  
h.    Should a Director’s employment status change during their 
three (3)-year term, the Nominating Committee shall evaluate the 
Director’s circumstances and make a recommendation to the 
Executive Committee concerning the Director’s ongoing 
participation. 

  
i.         A Director may serve not more than three (3) consecutive 
three (3)-year terms and may be re-elected after a one (1) year 
absence from the Board of Directors. 

 
 

21



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto subscribe my name this 20th 
day of September, 1995. 

 

 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 

)ss. 
County of Delta ) 

Kevin McMullan (signature 

on file)_ Incorporator 

 

I do hereby certify that Kevin McMullan personally know 
to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the annexed 
and foregoing ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION has appeared before me 
this day in person and acknowledges that he signed, sealed and 
delivered said instrument in writing as his free and voluntary 
act, for the uses and purposes therein set forth. 

 

Given under my 
hand and notarial 
seal this 

  20th  day of 

  Sept., 1995 at Delta, Colorado. My commission expires:
 11/28/
96 
 

Marsha M. Thomas (signature 
on file)_ Notary Public 

 
Address: 100 Stafford Lane 

 
Delta, CO 81416 

 

The undersigned consents to the appointment as the 
initial registered agent of DELTA AREA DEVELOPMENT, INC., 
A NONPROFIT CORPORATION. 

 

Karen O’Brien (signature 

on file)_ Registered 
Agent 

 
STATE OF COLORADO ) 

)
SS. COUNTY OF 
DELTA ) 

 

I do hereby certify that Karen O’Brien, personally know 
to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the 
annexed and forgoing ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, has appeared 
before me this day in person and acknowledges that she 

22



signed, sealed and delivered said instrument in writing as 
her free and voluntary act, for the uses and purposes therein 
set forth. 

Dated this 28th day of December, 1995. Witness my 
hand and official seal. My commission expires:
 12.27/97 
 

Donna R. Widner (signature 
on file)_ Notary Public 

 
 

23



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 1 of 12 

BYLAWS 
of 

ONE DELTA COUNTY an ECONOMIC ALLIANCE 
Delta County, Colorado  

 
Adopted ____________, 2020 

 
ARTICLE I 

Office 
The principal office of One Delta County an Economic Alliance, henceforth referred to as “the 
Corporation,” shall be located in the County of Delta, at such place as may from time to time be 
determined by the Board of Directors.  
 

ARTICLE II 
Purpose 

The Purpose of the Corporation is to promote, strengthen and enhance Delta County's economic base 
including the towns and municipalities of Cedaredge, Crawford, Delta, Hotchkiss, Orchard City and 
Paonia and to increase the standard of living for all residents through retention, expansion, attraction, 
and development of new businesses and industry that pay a livable wage and to encourage commercial 
capital investments.  Specifically, this purpose includes the promotion of workforce enhancement, 
agriculture and agriculture related enhancement, commercial and manufacturing enhancement, 
education and business development and collaboration with our partners to achieve economic 
diversification and resilience.  A tertiary purpose is to increase the amount of private investment to 
lessen the burden on local governments in promoting economic development. 
 

ARTICLE III 
Organization 

The Corporation is organized as a not-for-profit corporation pursuant to the provisions of Sections 
501(c) of the United States Internal Revenue Code.  It shall be operated exclusively for charitable, 
economic development and educational purposes, all within the meaning of, and as contemplated and 
permitted by, Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended.  The Corporation 
shall have and may exercise all powers that are afforded the Corporation by the Colorado Revised 
Nonprofit Corporation Act, as amended and by any future laws amendatory thereof and supplementary 
thereto, provided however, that the Corporation shall not carry on any activity not permitted to be 
carried on by the Corporation that is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(a) of the Code.  
The Corporation shall operate in a totally autonomous fashion with a separate Board of Directors, 
bylaws, policies, staff and funding.  The Corporation shall not attempt to influence legislation as a 
substantial part of its activities and it may not participate in any campaign activity for or against political 
candidates.  The Corporation shall not discriminate against any person on the grounds of race, color, 
creed, national origin, sex or disability. 
 

24



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 2 of 12 

ARTICLE IV  
Membership 

 
IV.1 Voting Members 
The voting members shall be comprised of the individuals and entities who shall have invested at least 
the minimum annual dollar amount established by the board of directors in the Corporation.  The voting 
power of the membership shall vest solely in and be limited to the voting members.  Each member shall 
be entitled to one (1) vote in regard to all matters coming before the membership.  Any individual who 
subscribes to the purpose and basic policies of the Corporation may become an investor in the 
Corporation, subject only to compliance with the provisions of the Corporation’s bylaws and policies.  
The Corporation shall conduct enrollment of investors as specified by the Board of Directors.  Only 
investors in good standing of the Corporation, as provided by the bylaws and policies, shall be eligible to 
participate in its business meetings, or to serve in any of its elective or appointive positions. 
 
IV.2 Voting Qualifications  
Any voting member who is not an individual, such as a partnership, corporation, limited liability 
company, government entity or public entity (each an “Entity”) shall designate a single individual as the 
designated voter to represent the interests of the voting member (the “Voting Designee”) and that 
designated voter will be recognized as the representative of the voting member, until such time as the 
Corporation is notified in writing of any change of this designation.  Voting privileges shall be non-
transferable and non-assessable and shall revert to the Corporation upon the death or resignation of 
such voting member.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event such voting member is an Entity, 
voting privileges shall revert to the Corporation upon the reorganization, dissolution, winding up, 
bankruptcy or change in control of such Entity, as determined by the Board of Directors in their sole 
discretion.  Cumulative voting is not permitted.  
 
IV.3 Meetings of Members  
Special meetings of the members of the Corporation may be called by the President, the Executive 
Committee, or a simple majority of the Board of Directors or by a petition signed by twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the voting members. 
 
IV.4 Annual Meeting  
The annual meeting of the members of the Corporation shall be held within the County of Delta, 
Colorado.  The time and place of the annual meeting of the Corporation shall be determined by the 
Board of Directors. 
 
IV.5 Notice  
Notice of the time and place of all membership meetings shall be (a) by personally delivering written 
notice to a member of the Corporation; (b) by personally telephoning such member of the Corporation 
or in the case of a member that is an Entity, the Designee; or (c) by electronic mail, such notice shall be 
given at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting.  The notice of all meetings shall state the place, date 
and hour thereof, but need not, state the purpose or purposes thereof. 

25



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 3 of 12 

 
IV.6 Proxies  
A member may vote by email ballot or may be represented by a proxy properly executed by the 
member assigning their rights to another voting member and in a format approved by the Board of 
Directors.  Ballots will be mailed out by the Corporation at least fourteen (14) days prior to the annual 
meeting.  Ballots are to be returned by the member no later than three (3) days prior to the annual 
meeting.  
 
IV.7 Place of Meeting 
The Board of Directors may designate any place within the County of Delta, as the meeting place for the 
annual meeting or for any special meeting of the voting members.  If no designation is made or if a 
special meeting shall be called, other than by the Board of Directors, the place of meeting shall be the 
principal office of the Corporation. 
 
IV.8 Quorum 
A majority of the members present at the meeting who are entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum at 
any meeting of the voting members. The voting membership present at the duly organized meeting may 
continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough voting 
members to leave less than a quorum.  If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
members represented at the meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter shall be the act of the 
members unless the vote of a greater number is required by law or the Articles of Incorporation. 
 

ARTICLE V 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
V.1 Duties of Directors 
The Board of Directors shall perform duties as follows: 

a. Determine purpose and goals for the Corporation with approval of members. 
b. Review policy and adopt strategic plan, annual action plan and monitor progress for the 

Corporation. 
c. Employ, terminate and monitor performance of the Executive Director. 
d. Conduct fund raising for the Corporation. 
e. The Board of Directors shall have all powers as specified by law to administer, govern and 

control the Corporation, including financial administration. 
f. The board receives no compensation other than reasonable expenses. 

 
V.2 Number and Tenure 
The Board of Directors shall consist of a minimum of three (3) members and no more than twenty-six 
(26) members of the Corporation. 
 

a. Municipal Directors:  The elected governing bodies of the municipal and county governments of 
Delta County (as listed below), provided they are investing members of the Corporation as agreed upon 

26



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 4 of 12 

in an Intergovernmental Agreement, shall be entitled to designate an elected official or paid-staff 
member to be a voting member of the Corporation’s Board of Directors.  Only one (1) may be 
designated from each of the government bodies listed below: 
 

1. Delta County, Board of Commissioners 
2. Town of Cedaredge, Board of Trustees 
3. Town of Crawford, Town Council 
4. City of Delta, City Council 
5. Town of Hotchkiss, Town Council 
6. Town of Orchard City, Board of Trustees 
7. Town of Paonia, Board of Trustees 

 
The Corporation shall have no more than seven (7) seats occupied by the above governing bodies. The 
defined government bodies may appoint either an elected official or paid-staff member as a proxy to 
represent their entity on the Corporation’s Board of Directors.   
 
Inasmuch as the representative of the county and municipalities are appointed because of their 
representative capacity, in the event any such Director ceases to be the designated representative of 
the agency who appointed such Director, such person's membership on the Board of Directors shall 
terminate. 
 

b. Entity Directors:  The following entities, who invest in the Corporation in the amounts 
determined by the Board of Directors, shall each have one (1) voting member represented on the Board 
of Directors: 
 

1. Delta Montrose Electric Association 
2. Delta County Hospital District 
3. Delta County Library District 
4. Delta County School District 

 
c. Chamber of Commerce Directors:  Towns or regions that have formal chambers or entities 

participating in economic development and are members making cash investments in the Corporation, 
in an amount at least in the minimum eligible level to become Board members, may appoint one 
representative per community to become a voting member of the Corporation’s Board of Directors.  The 
Corporation shall have no more than six (6) seats occupied by the above entities. 
 

d. Elected Business Directors:  The Corporation shall have seven (7) seats available for Delta County 
businesses, who are current voting members of the Corporation.  The business members of the Board of 
Directors will be elected by the eligible business voting members of the Corporation.  At least one (1) 
business will represent agriculture. 

 

27



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 5 of 12 

e. Past President:  The immediate past President of the Board of Directors shall be a voting 
member of the Board for one (1) year.  This one-year term does not count toward the required one-year 
absence from the Board of Directors. 
 

f. Ex-Officio Members:  The Board of Directors can appoint additional non-voting ex-officio 
members to provide advice and expertise as needed. 
 

g. As set forth in the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, the initial business members 
of the Board of Directors will serve staggered terms with one (1) director serving for one (1) year, three 
(3) directors serving for two (2) years, and three (3) directors serving for three (3) years. Thereafter, 
business members shall be elected to three (3) year terms and shall take office immediately following 
their election. 
 

h. No business or organization Board member may have more than one (1) voting member at a 
time.  In the event that a seated Director changes jobs and his/her employer has an existing seat on the 
Corporations’ Board of Directors, the Director will submit his/her resignation within thirty (30) days of 
the change.  Should that Director hold an office within the Corporation, the Director shall remain in 
place through the term of the office. 
 

i. Should a Business Director’s employment status change during their three (3)-year term, the 
Nominating Committee shall evaluate the Director’s circumstances and make a recommendation to the 
Executive Committee concerning the Director’s ongoing participation. 
 

j. A Director may serve no more than three (3) consecutive three (3)-year terms and may be re-
elected after a one (1) year absence from the Board of Directors. 
 
V.3 Qualifications of Directors  
Directors shall be citizens of the United States, age twenty-one (21) or over, with a significant business 
interest in Delta County or a member or employee of a Corporation who is a member.  The voting 
designee of a member shall be considered as a member for the purpose of qualifying to be elected to 
the Board of Directors.  Prior to taking office, all Directors must agree in writing to adhere to the Bylaws, 
Policies and other required documents of the Corporation.  
 
V.4 Nominating Committee  
There shall be a Nominating Committee composed of at least three (3) members of the Elected Business 
Board of Directors who shall be selected by the Elected Business Directors to nominate business owners 
for election.  Nominating Committee members shall take into account skillsets, industry representation, 
and investor level when making nominations.  The Nominating Committee shall nominate at least one 
(1) eligible person for each vacancy on the Board of Directors and shall report its nominees at a regular 
meeting of the Board of Directors.  Only those persons who have signed their consent to serve, if 
elected, shall be nominated.  Those persons receiving the greatest number of votes from other business 

28



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 6 of 12 

members shall be elected to the Board of Directors.  Directors so elected shall take office at the monthly 
meeting following their election. 
 
V.5 Vacancies of Board of Directors 

a. Business Directors:  A vacancy occurring in any office or of a Business Directors shall be filled for 
the unexpired term by a person appointed by a majority vote of the remaining Business Directors.  The 
appointed Business Director may fill the position only until the expiration of the term of the person 
he/she replaces.  The appointed Business Director may be eligible to be nominated for election at the 
next regular election if the appointed Business Director meets all requirements to be a member of the 
Board of Directors. 
 

b. Organization Directors:  A vacancy occurring in any office or on the Board of Directors due to an 
individual no longer associated with an organizational member shall resort back to the organizational 
member who may  appoint a person to fill the Board of Director position until the next regular election 
of the Board of Directors. 
 
V.6 Regular Meetings  
A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice immediately after, and at the 
same place as, the annual membership meeting.  The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the 
time and place, within the County of Delta for the holding of other regular meetings. 
 
V.7 Special Meetings  
Special meetings may be called by the Secretary upon request of the President, Vice President, or upon 
request by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors, presented in writing to the Secretary. 
 
V.8 Notice of Meetings  
Notice of the time and place of regular or special Board of Directors meetings shall be delivered 
electronically, personally, or by depositing in the U.S. mail at least three (3) days prior to said meeting.  
Such notices will state the date, time, and place of such meeting. 
 
V.9 Quorum  
A majority of the existing and duly elected and voting Directors shall constitute a quorum.  
 
V.10 Manner of Acting 
The act of the majority of Directors present at the meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act 
of the Board of Directors.  In the event a quorum is not present, the Directors attending the meeting 
may act and if the minutes of the meeting are subsequently ratified in writing by a sufficient number of 
the absent Directors to constitute a quorum then, and in that event, it shall be considered a quorum was 
present and the actions taken by the Directors as recorded in the minutes shall be as valid as if the 
ratifying absent Directors had been present at the meeting. 
 
 

29



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 7 of 12 

V.11 Presumption of Agreement  
A Director who is present at a meeting at which action is taken on a corporate matter shall be presumed 
to have agreed to the decision reached unless they shall request that their dissent be entered in the 
minutes of the meeting or files their written dissent with the Secretary of the Corporation within two (2) 
days after the meeting adjourns.  A director who has voted in favor of such action shall have no right to 
such dissent.  
 
V.12 Action by Board Without a Meeting  
Any action which could be taken at a meeting of the Board of Director may be taken without a meeting 
if a written consent setting for the action so taken is signed by each of the Directors.  Such consent shall 
be inserted in the book as minutes of a Board of Directors meeting. 
 
V.13 Attendance  
Any Director who misses twenty-five percent (25%) of meetings without cause or without being excused 
by the Board of Directors at least one (1) hour prior to official meeting start time may be removed from 
office by a majority vote of the Board of Directors at large.  If such member requests reinstatement 
within two (2) months, the Board of Directors may reinstate the seat in their sole discretion, though this 
provision may not be used for any member more than once per term. 
 
V.14 Removal  
A member of the Board of Directors or any officer may be removed from the Board of Directors or such 
office whenever in the judgment of the Board of Directors the best interest of the Corporation will be 
served by this action.  A majority vote of the members of the Board of Directors at a regular or special 
meeting of the Board of Directors called for such purpose is required prior to the removal of any 
Director or officer of the Corporation. 
 
V.15 Resignation  
Any Director may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the President or Secretary, or to the 
registered office of the Corporation. 
 
V.16 Compensation  
Directors shall not receive any stated salaries for their service.  By resolution, Directors may be paid for 
their expenses, if any, of attendance at each Director or committee meeting, or a fixed sum for 
attendance at each Director or committee meeting; but nothing herein shall be construed to preclude 
any Director from receiving compensation for services rendered to the Corporation. 
 
V.17 Loans  
No loans shall be made by the Corporation to any of its Directors or employees. 
 
V.18 Meetings by Conference Telephone 

30



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 8 of 12 

Members of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting by means of conference telephone or 
similar electronic means provided all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other and such 
participation shall constitute presence in person at the meeting. 
 
V.19 Committees  
Board of Directors’ Standing Committees include: 
 

a. Executive Committee:  The Executive Committee shall provide in-depth oversight, counsel and 
financial guidance to the Board of Directors and will consist of: 

1. Five (5) officers of the Board of Directors 
2. One (1) Delta County designated Director 
3. One (1) City of Delta designated Director 
4. One (1) local government designated Director representing the Surface Creek area 
5. One (1) local government designated Director representing the North Fork Valley area 
6. One (1) business Director 

  
b. Ad Hoc and Special Committees:  For the best execution of their powers and duties, the 

President of the Board of Directors may appoint, at their discretion, such ad hoc and special committees 
as may from time-to-time be deemed necessary for the advancement of the Corporation’s purposes. 
 
V.20 Robert’s Rules of Order  
All annual, regular, or special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be governed by Robert’s Rules of 
Order. 

ARTICLE VI 
OFFICERS 

 
VI.1 Officers 
The officers of the Corporation shall consist of the President, Vice President, Immediate Past President, 
Secretary, and Treasurer, all of whom are elected to serve one (1) year or until their successors are duly 
elected and qualified.  Elected government officials shall not serve as officers of the Corporation. 
 
VI.2 Election of Officers 
The officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors at a meeting held immediately after the Annual 
Meeting.  The office of Secretary and Treasurer may be combined in one person, if so determined by the 
Board of Directors.  Officers elected by the Board of Directors shall take office effective upon their 
election. 
 
VI.3 Removal from Office 
Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed upon presentation 
of good cause, including therein the showing of any adverse interest or action to the good of the 
Corporation, upon a majority vote of the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting called for 
that purpose. 

31



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 9 of 12 

 
VI.4 Resignation from Office 
Any officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the President or Secretary, or to the 
Board of Directors. 
 
VI.5 Vacancies  
A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or any other cause may 
be appointed by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
Duties of Officers 

 
VII.1 Duties of the President  
The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and shall preside at all meetings of 
the Board of Directors, when present.  The President shall provide direction to the Executive Director 
between board meetings.  The President may sign all contracts, deeds and other instruments executed 
on behalf of the Corporation unless such power is otherwise delegated by the Board of Directors and 
shall perform such other duties as may be required by the laws of the State of Colorado, by these Bylaws 
and by the Board of Directors. 
 
VII.2 Duties of the Vice President  
In the absence or disability of the President, the Vice President shall possess all the powers and perform 
all of the duties of the President. 
 
VII.3 Duties of the Treasurer 
The Treasurer shall provide oversight and guidance to the Executive Director to ensure that a full and 
accurate accounting of all financial matters is being accurately and currently maintained digitally and 
being backed up off premise.  The Treasurer shall have signature authority on all bank accounts or 
instruments of credit and shall review and approve a financial report annually to the membership at the 
Annual Meeting and arrange for reports as may be requested by the Board of Directors.  The Treasurer 
shall ensure disbursements are made in accordance with the approved budget, as authorized by the 
Board of Directors, and provide an end of month balance sheet, profit and loss statement and a year-to-
date, budget-to-actual report. 
 
VII.4 Duties of the Secretary  
The Secretary shall provide oversight and guidance to staff to ensure proper recording and filing of the 
minutes of all meetings of the Corporation and of the Board of Directors.  The Secretary shall have 
charge of the seal of incorporation; and shall perform such other duties as may be delegated to such 
person. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND STAFF 

32



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 10 of 12 

 
VIII.1 Duties of the Executive Director  
The Executive Director (ED) is the primary full-time staff position of the Corporation and is responsible 
for administering the programs of the Corporation.  The ED is accountable to the Board of Directors and 
shall work closely with the board to fulfill its objectives.  The ED, as authorized by the board's fiscal 
policy, shall sign checks and enter into agreements with the approval of the Board of Directors, which 
are necessary to carry out the objectives of the Corporation.  The ED may hire other staff members as 
the Board of Directors authorizes.  The ED shall be an ex-officio member of the Board of Directors.  The 
ED shall not be entitled to vote but shall be entitled to notice of and attendance at meetings, except 
those portions of a meeting at which matters directly relating to the ED are discussed. 
 
VIII.2 Other Staff  
All other staff shall be supervised by and accountable to the Executive Director. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
BOOKS AND RECORDS 

 
The Corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account, minutes of the 
proceedings of its Board of Directors, and such other records as may be necessary or advisable or as 
required by law at the registered or principal office of the Corporation.  All books and records of the 
Corporation may be inspected by a Director for any proper purpose at any reasonable time, upon 
reasonable notice to the Secretary of the Corporation. 
 

ARTICLE X 
FINANCES 

 
X.1 Fiscal Year 
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be January 1 thru December 31. 
 
X.2 Budget  
The Board of Directors shall prepare and adopt a budget to present to members at the Annual Meeting.  
The budget may be amended at any time with the Board of Directors’ approval. 
 
X.3 Fiscal Policy 
The Board of Directors shall adopt and from time to time review a fiscal policy setting out a formal 
procedure that shall govern internal controls; the signing of checks; the obligation of funds; approval of 
contracts, leases, deeds and mortgages; and other significant aspects of the Corporation's fiscal 
operation.  The Board of Directors or Executive Director may accept on behalf of the Corporation any 
contribution, gift, bequest or device as may be consistent with the established purpose of the 
Corporation and may be permitted by any applicable local, state or federal law.  The fiscal policy shall 
assure that the Corporation shall have sound financial controls that are appropriate, under generally 
accepted accounting principles, to its size and purpose. 

33



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 11 of 12 

 
ARTICLE XI 

INDEMNIFICATION 
 
XI.1 Agreement to Indemnify  
Any person (including the heirs, executors, and administrators of such person) who was or is a party or is 
threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, 
whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (including any action or suit by or in the right of 
the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor), by reason of the fact that (a) he/she is or was a 
director or officer of the Corporation or (b) he/she is or was a director or officer of the Corporation and 
is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall be indemnified by the 
Corporation, if, as to the extent authorized by the laws of the State of Colorado, against expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amount paid in settlement actually and reasonably 
incurred by him in connection with the defense of settlement of such action, suit or proceeding.  The 
Corporation may indemnify any person (including heirs, executors or administrators of such person) 
who is or was an employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the 
Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, 
trust or other enterprise to the extent and under the circumstances provided by the foregoing sentence.  
The indemnification provided by this Article and by the laws of the State of Colorado shall be deemed 
exclusive of any other rights which any person indemnified may be entitled under any bylaws, 
agreement, vote of members or disinterested directors or otherwise. 
 
XI.2 Liability Insurance  
To the extent permitted by the Colorado Corporation Code, the Corporation may purchase and maintain 
insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the 
Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or 
agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability 
asserted against him/her and incurred by him/her in such capacity or arising out of his/her status as 
such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him/her against such liability 
under the provisions of the Colorado Corporation Code. 
 

ARTICLE XII 
AMENDMENTS 

 
These Bylaws may be amended by a majority vote of the Board of Directors.  No amendments shall be 
voted on at a meeting at which it is proposed but shall lie over until the next succeeding meeting of the 
Board of Directors. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors the day first written above. 
 
_________________________________________________ 

34



ONE DELTA COUNTY BYLAWS  

Page 12 of 12 

President / Date 
 
_________________________________________________ 
Vice President / Date   
 
 

35



One Delta County 
An Economic Alliance 

 
12 Month Strategic Plan 

Who we are: 
We are a partnership of businesses, local governments, service providers, and Chambers focused on improving the economy in Delta County.  
 
Purpose:  
The Purpose of One Delta County is to promote, strengthen and enhance Delta County's economic base including the towns and municipalities 
of Cedaredge, Crawford, Delta, Hotchkiss, Orchard City and Paonia and to increase the standard of living for all residents through retention, 
expansion, attraction, and development of new businesses and industry that pay a livable wage and to encourage commercial capital 
investments.   

Specifically, this purpose includes the promotion of workforce enhancement, agriculture and agriculture related enhancement, commercial and 
manufacturing enhancement, education and business development and collaboration with our partners to achieve economic diversification and 
resilience.  
 

A tertiary purpose is to increase the amount of private investment to lessen the burden on local governments in promoting economic 
development. 

 
Program Goals & Focus for 2020-2021 

 
 

➔ Operations: Establish clear roles and responsibilities to ensure the day to day management of One Delta County is accountable to all 
partners. 

 To ensure transparent operations we need to: 

1. Develop clear Vision, Mision, Strategic Plan, Program/Service definition 
2. Accurate financial management 
3. Clear marketing, branding, advertising strategy 
4. Build funding base 
5. Active & Engaged Board 
6. Develop a Leads management system 

 
➔ Business Growth and Retention: support expanding business. Expanding businesses will help retain existing jobs and create new jobs. 

Focus on local businesses with growth potential, at risk, and with the potential to create livable wage jobs. 

To support business growth we need to: 

1. Identify existing businesses that are ready to grow or at risk of moving or closing.  
2. Better understand the needs of existing businesses 
3. Establish programming and services to support these businesses if gaps, partner and coordinate with other providers (SBDC, 

ENGAGE) 
4. Connect industry clusters and increases opportunities for business to business coordination. 

 
➔ Business Attraction: Actively pursue attracting businesses that will create new jobs that pay livable wages. 

To support business attraction we need to: 

1. Gather data on industries that are a good fit for Delta 
2. Respond quickly to leads and inquiries 
3. Target industries identified by data (cluster study)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

 

➔ Education & Leadership Development: Education of the Board of Directors, local leadership, and businesses on the value and 
importance of economic development. 

To educate our partners we need to: 

1. Engaged Board of Directors 
2. Educate all interests on economic conditions of County 
3. Gather data on tangible and intangible benefits of economic development 

 

➔ Communication & Collaboration: Provide a forum for increased communication between all partners which in turn will help to foster 
opportunities for collaboration. 

To foster collaboration we need to: 

1. Engaged local government, non profits service providers, business community regularly.  
 

36



 

START UP WORK PLAN 

Immediate Priority Next Priority Third Priority Support but not lead 

 

Goal: Tasks Subtasks Lead April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March 

Operation Plan Priority 
#1 

               

 Organizational Overview  ● Vision, Mission, Goals  
● Bylaws 
● Strategic Plan  
● Definition of Services 
● Marketing of Services 
● Defining Audience 
● Incentives available (BR & BE) 
● Onboarding documents 

o Member benefits 
o Structure 
o Diversity 
o Strengths at the table 
o Member of org vs board 

member 

o How to become member 

● Code of ethics  

Tran. Team 
BOD/Exec. 

 

 

 

 

Supported by: 
County/Region 10 

            

 ● Board Establishment ● Education & outreach to governments, 
service providers, chambers, existing 
investors, business community 

● IGA a 
● pproval & Government appointees 
● Service provider appointees 
● Chamber  
● Business Nomination Process and 

selection 

Parnters             

37



 ● Financial 
Management  

● Invoicing, collecting checks, accounting 
● QB 
● Bank services  
● Maintaining 501 C3 status, 990, etc. 

BOD/Exec 

 

Supported by: 

Trans. Team 

            

 Staff/PM ● Job Desc. 
● Hiring Process 
● Salary, benefits 
● Work expectations 
● Meetings schedules 
● Management- review/PIP  
● One on One  
● Supervision  
● Goals  

● Office/Phone 

County/BOD 

 

 

 

Supported by: 

Trans. Team 

            

 Identify and establish 
committees to support PM in 
business growth & Retention 

• Executive Committee 
• Business Growth Retention Committee 
• Strike Team 
• Business Attraction Committee 
• Fundraising/Membership 
• Events 

BOD             

 Board Management  ● Meetings 
● Minutes  
● Calendar management/Scheduling  
● Onboarding (paperwork)  
● Expectations 
● Roles/Responsibilities  
● Terms 
● Elections /Appointment  

PM, BOD             

 Build Membership ● Managing Membership  
● Membership Structure  
● Recruitment 

Memb/Fund 
Comm 

Supported by: 
PM 

            

 Fundraising/Initial & Ongoing ● Building Membership Biz Development  
● Grant Writing 

Memb/Fund 
Comm 

            

38



Supported by:     
PM 

 Marketing, Brand, 
Advertising  

● Website  
● Logo, Name 
● Social Media 
● Newsletters  
● Contact Information 
● Opportunity Zone Work 

PM, Ex. Com.             

 Leads  ● Establish leads management system 
● Develop data and info packets 
● Determine protocol for how conf. leads 

will be handled? 
● CRM software? 

● Confidentiality (help make incoming 
business leads to be non-partisan) 

Strike Team, PM             

 

Business Growth & Retention: 

Goal: Tasks Subtasks Lead April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March 
Identify Growth 
Potential/Retention 
Businesses 

               

 • Establish an early 
warning system to 
identify at risk 
companies that may 
layoff, shutdown, or 
relocate. 

 PM, Strike Team              

  • Survey existing businesses and identify 
existing business geared for growth, at 
risk of closing/relocating. 

PM, ENGAGE, Strike 
Team  

            

  • Identify needed tools/resources that 
can be offered by the Strike Team. 

PM, Strike Team, 
ENGAGE, Region 10 

            

39



 • Map businesses and 
business sector to 
assist with cluster 
identification 

• Identify sources of information 
(chambers, city sales tax, state sales tax, 
CSU) 

• Conduct a survey 
• Create a database and update schedule 

PM 
 

            

Understand needs of 
existing businesses 

               

 • Engage with 
businesses to assess 
needs and 
opportunities 

• Meet with current investors 
• Identify and target livable wage 

employers 
• Overlaps with Identification of 

Businesses above 
• Develop targeted questions to gather 

similar data on all businesses 
• Develop a database for tracking 

PM, Engage             

 • Create a business 
resource guide 

 PM, BGR 
Committee, R10, 
Engage, Chambers 
 

            

  • Map existing programs “one stop shop” 
with R10/SBDC/ENGAGE 

• Internal document as well as an 
external resources. 

             

                
 • Identify Service gaps 

between existing 
programs and 
identified business 
needs 

• Work with One Stop Shop Committee  
• Identify barriers to info sharing and 

work to remove 
• Create connections, networking with 

partners 

PM, R10, ENGAGE, 
Chambers, Munis 

            

 • Connect businesses 
to resources 

 PM, ENGAGE, R10, 
Chambers, County, 
Munis 
 

            

 • Advocate for policy 
solutions to address 
business needs with 

 PM, BOD             

40



local/state/federal 
government 

Support existing 
business in growth and 
retention 

               

 • Evaluate existing 
mentor networks and 
expand to bring in 
additional 
expertise/capacity to 
meet current 
business needs 

 ENGAGE ; SBDC              

 • Connect 
growth/retention 
businesses with 
mentors 

 ENGAGE ; SBDC             

 • Work with Region 10 
and SBDC to bring 
more classes to Delta 
County to address 
specific business 
needs 

 ENGAGE, Chambers, 
SBDC 

            

Connect industry 
clusters and increase 
business to business 

               

 • Develop business to 
business leads 
program 

• Ongoing work of Opportunity Zone 
Committee 

PM, ENGAGE              

 • Identify supply chain 
needs of existing 
business and identify 
local/regional 
suppliers 

 PM, ENGAGE              

 • Identify businesses 
that do not have a 
long term divestment 
plan and work to 
develop strategies to 
retain that business 
(Employee Owned 
Corps, leasing of ag 
operations to young 

 PM, ENGAGE              

41



farmers/ranchers, 
etc) 

• Business needs could include 
• Access to capital 
• Access to markets 
• Reducing Red tape 
• Workforce Development 
• Efficiency Improvements 
• Improve clusters—business to business solutions 

 
 

Business Attraction:  

Goal: Tasks Subtasks Lead Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Marc 
Gather data on industries 
and businesses that One 
Delta County will actively 
pursue 

               

 • Invest in or create a 
leads management 
system 

 PM             

 • Educate One Delta 
County on available 
resources for 
economic 
development 
including incentives 

 PM, R10, County, 
Munis, OEDIT 

            

 • Engage with OEDIT 
and become active 
in their business 
recruitment leads 
program. 

  

PM 

            

                

 • Develop a 
commercial land 
inventory, and a 
system to keep the 

 PM- w/ board 
committee 

            

42



inventory updated 
and current. 

 • Gather data on local 
housing markets 
including vacancy 
rates for rentals, 
average rents, 
average cost of 
home ownership, 
etc. 

 PM/Individual 
Munis/DBOR/Housi
ng Authority 

            

Respond quickly to Leads 
and Inquiries 

               

 • Develop a STRIKE 
Team: Realtor, 
Attorney, Business 
Lead,  Banker/Invest
or to serve as point 
of contact for any 
business lead or 
inquiry. 

• Build on Opportunity Zone Work BOD             

 • Develop a 
recruitment 
package  

• Build on Opportunity Zone Prospectus PM/County/Munis             

  • Consolidate websites into a single 
marketing/promotions website that acts 
as a portal to all organizations and 
communities 
(westernlivingcolorado.com) 

PM, County, 
Chambers, Munis  

            

  • Develop printable materials that can be 
handed to recruits or inquiries 

PM, County PIO, 
Delta MD 

            

  • Use social media to both market Delta 
County and to promote the success of 
existing business, One Delta County, 
community projects, etc. 

PM, County PIO, 
Delta MD  

            

  • Develop a marketing plan that targets all 
media 

PM, County PIO, 
Delta MD 

            

Recruit businesses out of 
industries identified in 
cluster study 

               

43



 • Identify trade shows 
to attend, and 
develop a team of 
participants for each 
show 

 PM, BA Committee             

 • Connect 
growth/retention 
businesses with 
mentors 

 PM, R10, SBDC, 
ENGAGE, 
Chambers 

            

 • Work with Region 
10 and SBDC to 
bring more classes 
to Delta County to 
address specific 
business needs 

 PM, ENGAGE, R10, 
Chambers  

            

• Current Industry Focus: 
• Value Added Food Manufacturing 
• Hemp 
• Small Manufacturing 
• Energy Sector 
• Health Care 

 
 
Education & Leadership Development: 

Goal: Tasks Subtasks Lead April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Engaged Participants on 
the Board of Directors 

               

 ● Develop a Training 
Outline for the 
Board of Directors 

 PM, R10, EDCC             

  ⮚ Onboarding training for new 
appointments 

PM, Ex. Comm             

  ⮚ Annual training on roles, responsibilities, 
organization focus, work plan, goals, etc. 

PM, R10, EDCC             

44



 ● Align BOD members 
into committees 
they are most 
passionate about 

 BOD             

Educate all interests on 
economic conditions of 
the County 

               

 ● Economic Forecast 
Luncheon at least 
twice a year 

 PM, County, 
Uncompahgre Dev, 
R10 

            

 ● Develop an annual 
Economic 
Development 
Summit 

 PM, Event Comm              

  ⮚ Partner with other entities such as 
Region 10, GJEP, MEDC to host an 
annual event focused not only on Delta 
County but the region. 

PM, Event Comm             

                

Gather data to 
demonstrate the tangible 
and intangible benefits of 
economic development 
activities 

               

 ● Identify data points 
that economic 
development 
efforts could impact 
in a 1 year, 5 year, 
10 year period and 
establish baselines 

PM, BOD, County, Munis, R10 (CEDS)               

 ● Establish annual 
reporting  

PM, Ex Committee  2021             

 

Communication & Collaboration: 

45



Goal: Tasks Subtasks Lead Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Engaged Local 
Government, Non Profit,  
Service Provider, 
Businesses, Organizations 

               

 ● Ensure partner 
organizations are 
well informed and 
educated on One 
Delta County  
activities 

 PM, County PI, 
Delta MD 

            

  ⮚ Establish a liaison to each organization 
to attend meetings and provide regular 
updates 

Local Gov appt. 
Chamber appt,   

Supported by: 
PM 

            

  ⮚ Create newsletter, social media postings 
to share the progress of One Delta 
County with partner organizations. 

PM/ENGAGE, 
Chambers  

            

  ➢ Develop an internal communications 
plan to ensure consistent 
communication with stakeholders. 

PM, Ex. Comm             

 ● Invite partner 
organization to 
present at BOD 
meetings 

 PM             

 ● Encourage informal 
one on one 
meetings between 
Board members, 
businesses, and 
staff (coffee!!) 

 PM             

 ● Bring local 
leadership together 
on a regular basis to 
identify common 

 PM             

46



ground and 
common mission. 

 ● Work with local 
leadership to 
address known 
challenges 

 PM             

  ● Streamlined processes for collaboration 
i.e. letters of support, fiscal sponsorship 

PM, Exec. Comm             

  ● Streamlining of marketing & promotions 
efforts 

PM, County PIO, 
Delta MD 

            

 ● Work to understand 
each communities 
strengths and 
develop strategies 
to showcase 
through shared 
marketing and 
promotions 

 PM, Chambers, 
Munis, County  

            

 

47



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Roll Call 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

48



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Agenda Approval 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

49



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Announcements  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

50



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Visitors & Guests 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

51

1.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

One Delta County – Economic Development Participation & 

Intergovernmental Agreement 

Summary:   

Immediately preceding this meeting Elyse Casselberry, Larry Wilkening, and Kami Collins, 

provided an update regarding One Delta County – an economic alliance of all Delta County 

governmental entities. The initial presentation of the roughed-out plan was given to the Board 

of Trustees November 12th, 2019.  At that time, the Town was reeling from the election results 

and unclear with both the ODC mission as well as the Towns 2020 budget. Over the past seven 

months the ODC team has worked diligently – amidst all the chaos of 2020 – to formalize the 

ODC plan and mission. It is my recommendation that the Board support and participate in One 

Delta County.  While we still face uncertainty within our budget peri and post COVID-19, I 

believe it is important to actively come to the table and participate in the effort to bolster and 

improve economic development county-wide, but more importantly – to be part of the 

movement that supports and assists the retention of businesses we have – who are facing 

extreme hardships none of us could have fathomed four months ago. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

52

2.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Regular Minutes: 

May 12, 2020 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

53

3.



 

 

  

MAY 12, 2020 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Regular Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

Tuesday, May 12, 2020 
  

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

The Regular Board Meeting was held electronically via Zoom due to Governor Polis Executive 

Order of COVID – 19 - social distancing.  

 

The Regular Board Meeting was held electronically on Tuesday, May 12, 2020, was called to 

order at 6:34 PM by Mayor Charles Stewart. 

 

Trustees present were as follows:  

Mayor Bachran 

Trustee Meck 

Trustee Knutson  

Trustee Pattison 

Trustee Bear 

Trustee Budinger   

Trustee Johnson 

 

A quorum was present, and Mayor Bachran proceeded with the electronic meeting via Zoom. 

 

Approval of Agenda 

 

Motion to amend agenda by Trustee Bear, supported by Trustee Budinger. To table item #9 

Ordinance 2020- Modification of Ordinance 2019-02 Amending Fences, Hedges, and Walls – 

First Read. To a future in-person board meeting. Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Motion by Trustee Budinger, supported by Trustee Bear, to approve the agenda as amended. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Announcements  

  

 Trustee Knutson reported that he attended the Colorado Oil and Gas Commission 

meeting on May 05, 2020, as the local government designee. 

  Trustee Knutson has an informational document about the meeting to which will be 

emailed to Administrator/Town Clerk Ferguson to upload on the town’s website for 

public viewing. 

 Mayor Bachran announced that there will be free masks until May 30, 2020, and 328 

masks were made. 

 

 

Recognition of Visitor’s and Guest 

 

 Deborah Spiegel would like for the link for logging into the Zoom meetings to be added 

to the virtual meeting protocol and standards of conduct document.  

 Administrator/Town Clerk Ferguson stated that the board decided not to include the link 

to the meeting protocol for security purposes. 

 

Consent Agenda 

 

Liquor License Renewal: The Living Farm Café, Paradise Theater, West Elk Wine & Spirits  
 

Special Event Permit: Paradise Theatre – Pickin in the Park 

 

Motion by Trustee Knutson, supported by Trustee Budinger. To approve the agenda as 

presented. 

 

Discussions Noted: 

 Chief Neil Ferguson reported no issues with the liquor license renewals or the special 

54

3.



 

 

  

MAY 12, 2020 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

event permit. 

 Paradise Theater did not present insurance for Pickin in the Park’s special event did not 

want to risk the event being canceled due to COVID-19. A letter from DC Hawkins 

Insurance stating that they will acquire insurance before the event was provided. 

 The town will not provide the Paradise Theater a special event permit until proof of 

insurance is provided. 

 

Motion by Trustee Knutson, supported by Trustee Budinger to amend and approve consent 

agenda contingent upon proof of insurance/liquor License for the Paradise Theater. Motion 

carried unanimously. 

 

Mayor’s Report 

 

Nothing to report. 

 

Planning Commission Trustee Appointment – Sec. 2-6-30 – Membership Terms. 

 

Mayor Bachran proceeded with the appointment of one (1) member from the Board of 

Trustees to the Planning Commission seat. Trustee Budinger was appointed to the Planning 

Commission by the Mayor. 

 

Staff Reports 

 

Administrator’s Reports – Corinne Ferguson 

 

 Public Work’s Loberg and Administrator/Town Clerk Ferguson met with SGM and 

discussed the asset inventory project. 

 Public Works will be out marking water lines, meter pit, manholes, sewer lines, storm 

sewer drains. 

 SGM will be on-site for two (2) weeks and will be working on data collection for the 

mapping portion of the asset inventory and GIS mapping.  

 The GIS mapping will be four (4) to six (6) weeks, but with public works marking the 

sites, this will shorten the time frame. 

 November 2020 Coordinated Election time frame to add Marijuana to the ballot - formal 

action – notification of participation is needed to be given to the County by July 24th, 

2020 - The ballot language and draft ordinance will need to be submitted by September 

4th, 2020. 

 COVID-19 update. 

 Delta County applied for a variance requesting to create its own reopening regulations vs 

following the States regulations. 

 

Public Works Reported - Public Works Director Travis Loberg absentee – having computer 

connection issues, and Administrator/Town Clerk Ferguson proceeded with the report. 

 

 On May 10th, 2020 there was a water line break located by Dry Gulch Road and O 

Road. Public Works crews were on site and the leak was repaired. 

 The cause of the water line break was to be a water hammer this is a hydraulic shock, 

and it occurs when water stops or changes directions suddenly. The reason why this 

happened is unknown. 

 A second (2nd) water leak was found and repaired quickly 200 (two hundred) feet 

from the original line break. There was mild water interruption caused by the water 

line breaks. 

 Notification to the residence of street cleaning is in process regarding times and days 

public works will be out sweeping. 

 Park cleaning and spring repairs to the parks are underway. 

 

Public Comment: 

 

Discussion ensued about the Town’s annual spring cleanup day.  

 

 Town’s annual spring cleanup held in June – possibility postponed in fall 2020  

55

3.



 

 

  

MAY 12, 2020 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

 

Police Report – Chief Neil Ferguson 

 

 Chief Ferguson announced that the Police Department is open and resuming VIN 

inspections. 

 The policemen will be out doing code enforcement. 

 Police blotter was included in the packet. 

 

Town Attorney Report – Attorney Nerlin 

 

 A memo was sent out and was discussed by the board members regarding the 

selection process for the appointment of the new judge. 

 Discussion regarding the upcoming expiration of the interim administrator’s 

contract. 

 Attorney Nerlin suggested adding the Interim Town Administrator’s contract to 

the agenda for discussion. 

 

Treasure Report - Treasurer King 

  

 Reviewed disbursements and payroll 
 

 

Disbursements 
 

 Disbursements were included in the packet. 

 

Motion by Trustee Budinger, supported by Trustee Knutson to approve disbursements as 

presented. Motion carried unanimously 

 

Unfinished Business 

 

New Business 

 

Discussion of SCADA (Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition) and Operations 

System – Clock Water Treatment System (1MG Plant) 

 

Discussion Points: 

 Administrator/Town Clerk and members of the Public Works Committee lead the 

discussion regarding the SCADA proposals from different firms. The staff’s 

recommendations were to go with the Browns Hill Engineering & Controls 

proposal.  

 Discussed the purchase package vs the lease package. 

 Town Staff and Trustee Bear recommended the lease package. 

 The Browns Hill Engineering & Controls service quote and SCADA proposal 

were included in the packet. 

 What the consequences of early contract termination. 

 The board would like to see references from other communities who have used 

The Browns Hill Engineering & Controls service  

 Attorney Nerlin suggested having staff to continue to proceed in the direction of 

getting the background check and allowing time for the attorney to be able to 

review the contract and present the findings to the board at the next meeting. 

 

Mayor Bachran and the Board of Trustees directed staff to continue to proceed with 

gathering references, review of the contract with the attorney, and gather information 

regarding what the contract consequences for an early termination. 

 

Ordinance 2020- Modification of Ordinance 2019-02 Amending Fences, Hedges, and 

Walls – First Read 

 

 Item was tabled.    

 

Ordinance 2020- Modification of Municipal Code Article 7 – Tree Board – First Read 
 

56

3.



 

 

  

MAY 12, 2020 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

 Tree Board met and discussed changes to the ordinance Sec. 7-5-90 Article 7 

 Tree Board draft ordinance was included in the packet. 

 The document with the suggested changes was included in the packet. 

 

Public Comment: 

 

 Suzanne Watson suggested looking at a sample ordinance from Tree City U.S.A. 

 

 Thomas Markle commented about the Tree Board having authority on private 

property. Attorney Nerlin stated that the Tree Board is for public property and 

public right away. 

 

Motion by Trustee Budinger, supported by Trustee Pattison to adopt Ordinance 2020- 

TBD striking out language - Sec. 7-5-90 – Dead of diseased tree removal on private 

property. Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Discussion Regarding Town Administrator  

 

Discussion ensued by Trustee Knutson regarding the Interim Administrator’s contract 

different options. 

 

  Option one (1) - negotiate to rehire Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson as the Town 

Administrator/Town Clerk. 

 Option two (2) - contract and hire a new Town Administrator 

 Option three (3) – not hire a Town Administrator  

 Option four (4) – collaborate with other municipalities to share an administrator 

 Option five (5) – negotiate Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson’s interim administrator 

contract for three (3) years with collaboration from the Mayor. 

 

 Trustee Budinger suggested discussing the issue at the next meeting. 

 Interim Administrator contract expires May 31st, 2020 

 Trustee Meck suggested that the board consider searching for a new administrator. 

 Mayor Bachran stated there are not enough funds to hire a new administrator. 

 Trustee Pattison is in favor of extending the interim administrator Corinne 

Ferguson’s contract   

 The current interim administrator’s contract was included in the packet. 

 

 

Public comment 

 Suzanne Watson – concerned with the spousal relationship of the chief of police 

and the interim administrator/town clerk. 

 Thomas Markle – consider a person who is less deep-rooted to Paonia. 

 

The Board directed Trustees Knutson and Budinger to draft a contract and give it to 

Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson to review and recommended to have Mayor Bachran 

meet with Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson regarding the possibility of her extending her 

contract. 

 

 

Appointment of Municipal Judge Interview Committee 

 

Discussion ensued on the Town Attorney and Police recommendation committee for the 

municipal judge appointment. There were four (4) applicants who applied for the judge 

position. 

 

Proposed Committee will consist of the following committees and members: 

 

 Chief of Police Neil Ferguson 

 Town Attorney Bo Nerlin 

 Personnel Committee Member – Trustee Pattison 

57

3.



 

 

  

MAY 12, 2020 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

 Governmental & Public Safety Committee Member – Trustee Knutson 

 

Motion by Trustee Bear, supported by Trustee Meck to adopt the suggested interviewing 

committee to perform the municipal judge selection. Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Committee Reports 

 

Finance and Personnel 

 

 Finance and Personnel met and went over disbursements. Will continue to work 

along with the Mayor on the position of the Town Administrator.  

 Suggested language regarding retaliation was in the packet for the board to review 

and discuss at the next meeting. 

 

Public Works – Utilities – Facilities 

 

 Met and discussed multiple projects 

 Trustee Bear commented that Frederick Zimmer has not furnished documents 

from Silver Leaf that have been requested of him. 
 

 

Governmental Affairs and Public Safety  

 

 Scheduled to meet May 13th, 2020. 

 

Space to Create 

 

 Nothing to report 

 

Tree Board 

 

 May 1st, 2020 was the Arbor day celebration in memory of Jordan Schevene. 

 Tree species planted - Autumn Blaze Maple tree. 

 

 

Adjournment 

 

Motion by Trustee Knutson, supported by Trustee Budinger to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

 

 
 

Meeting adjourned at 8:35 pm 

 

 

_______________________________________  ______________________________ 

       Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                                     Mary Bachran, Mayor   

58

3.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

59

4.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Disbursements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

60

5.



61

5.



62

5.



63

5.



64

5.



65

5.



66

5.



67

5.



68

5.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Town Administrator Contract 

Summary:  Town Administrator Contract for Board review/decision. 

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

69

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 1 of 7 

 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

This Employment Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated this ___ day of June, 2020, is by 
and between the Town of Paonia, a Colorado statutory municipality, located in the County of 
Delta, State of Colorado ("Town"), and J. Corinne Ferguson (“Ms. Ferguson”), whose address is 
224 Dorris Avenue, Paonia, CO 81428.  

 
RECITALS 

 
A. Ms. Ferguson is currently the Town Clerk for the Town of Paonia; and   

 
B. The Town, by and through its Board of Trustees, appointed Ms. Ferguson as Interim 

Town Administrator at its regular meeting of August 27, 2019; and by approving a First 
Amendment to Interim Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2020, extended her 
term to June 10, 2020  

 
C. The Town has reviewed options for appointing a full-time permanent Town 

Administrator and has determined that appointment of Ms. Ferguson to a one year 
Employment Agreement, as both Town Administrator and Town Clerk is prudent and 
in the best interest of the Town of Paonia. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises contained herein and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
parties agree as follows: 
 
Section 1: Term 
 

A. This Agreement shall commence on June 10, 2020 and continue until May 31, 2021. 
 

B. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary within this Agreement, Ms. Ferguson, as Town 
Administrator/Town Clerk, shall be deemed to be an employee at will, and nothing in this 
Agreement shall prevent or otherwise interfere with the right of the Town Board of 
Trustees to terminate the services of Ms. Ferguson as the Town Administrator at any time, 
subject only to the applicable provisions of this Agreement. Likewise, nothing in this 
Agreement shall prevent or otherwise interfere with the right of Ms. Ferguson to resign at 
any time as the Town Administrator. Should Ms. Ferguson’s role as Town Administrator 
be terminated, Ms. Ferguson will revert to her role as Town Clerk, and her salary will 
thereafter be adjusted accordingly.  Termination of Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator 
shall not automatically be grounds for termination of Ms. Ferguson as Town Clerk.   
 

C. This Employment Agreement is annually renewable at the sole discretion of the Town 
Board.  Any proposed changes to the agreement shall be provided to Ms. Ferguson for her 
concurrence on or before May 1st of each subsequent year. 

 
 
 

70

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 2 of 7 

Section 2: Duties and Authority 
 
A.  The Town agrees to employ Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator and Town Clerk to 

perform the functions and duties in accordance with the Paonia Municipal Code and the Job 
Description, attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A, and to perform other legally 
permissible and proper duties and functions as prescribed by Colorado State statute as well 
as the Board of Trustees from time to time. 

  
B. While serving as Town Administrator, Ms. Ferguson shall continue to serve as the Town 

Clerk for the Town, in accordance with her current job description and as prescribed by the 
Town Code.    

 
C. Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator shall not oversee the Chief of Police.  There is an 

inherent conflict of interest as Ms. Ferguson is married to Town Chief of Police Neil 
Ferguson.  For so long as Ms. Ferguson is serving as Town Administrator, the Chief of Police 
shall report directly to the Mayor of the Town and shall not report to the Town Administrator.  

 
Section 3: Compensation 
 

A. Base Salary: The Town agrees to pay Ms. Ferguson a monthly base salary of Six Thousand 
One Hundred Fifty-Three Dollars and Thirty-Four Cents ("Base Salary").  Salary shall be 
paid periodically on the same regular paydays applicable to all other Town employees.    

 
B. Employees Benefits:  During the term of this Agreement, and thereafter when specifically 

provided herein, Ms. Ferguson, in addition to the Base Salary provided for in Section 3, 
shall have and be entitled to receive from the Town the following employee benefits: 

 
i. Personal Time Off (PTO) to the extent such is provided for under the Town's 

employee benefit package; 
 

ii. Disability coverage to the extent such is provided for under the Town's employee 
benefit package; 

 
iii. Health, dental and vision benefits to the extent such is provided under the Town's 

employee benefit package; 
 
iv. Payment  of 95% of costs of the health insurance plan of the Town Administrator;   

 
v. Life, accidental death, and dismemberment insurance to the extent such is provided 

under the Town's employee benefit package; and 
 
vi. Retirement benefits on the same basis as all other non-police, full-time employees 

of the Town. 
 

C. General Business Expenses:  During the terms of this Agreement, the Town shall cover the 
following general businesses expenses incurred by Ms. Ferguson as Town Administrator: 

71

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 3 of 7 

 
i. For the purposes of attending to Town Business during the winter months, the Town 

shall provide the Ms. Ferguson with access to a Town owned four-wheel-drive 
vehicle which may be used for attending to Town Business outside the limits of the 
Town.  
 

ii. The Town agrees to support at least two (2) CML administrator training options, if 
offered by CML at no cost, in the next twelve months. 

 
Section 4:  Performance Review 
 

A. The Personnel Committee shall complete a performance review of The Town 
Administrator/Town Clerk on or before October 1, 2020 and report its findings to the 
Mayor and Board of Trustees at the next regular meeting of the Town Board.  Pending a 
successful performance review, the Personnel Committee shall complete another 
performance review on or before January 2, 2021 and report its findings to the Mayor and 
Board of Trustees at the next regular meeting of the Town Board.   
 

B. The Personnel Committee will develop the review process and specific performance 
evaluation criteria by not later than June 15, 2020, for approval by the Town Board at its 
next regular meeting. 
 

Section 5: Termination and Severance 
 

A. For the purpose of this Agreement, termination shall occur when: 
 

i. The majority of the Board of Trustees votes to terminate the Town Administrator 
at a duly authorized public meeting and provides a minimum of ten (10) days’ 
written notice to the Town Administrator, or   
 

ii. Breach of contract is declared by either party, and provided a cure is not met 
within (10) days by either the Town Administrator or the Town, with written 
notice of a breach of contract shall be provided in accordance with the provisions 
contained herein, or 
 

iii. Cause as determined by the Board of Trustees.  
 

B. Cause under this Agreement shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
 

i. Failure to comply with applicable material provisions of the Paonia Municipal Code 
or the Town of Paonia Employee Resource Guide; 

 
ii. Disclosure of confidential information, documents or correspondence without 

authorization; 
 

72

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 4 of 7 

iii. Indulging in repeated offensive conduct or abusive conduct directed at Town 
employees or members of the public; 

 
iv. Failure to comply with applicable provision of the standards of conduct for local 

governmental officials contained in C.R.S. § 24-18-101 to 24-18-206; 
 
v. Any conduct that results or could result, in the reasonable judgment of the Town, 

in the conviction of a felony or crime involving fraud, theft, or misappropriation; 
or 

 
vi. Failure to perform job duties following prior written notice, or conduct which 

constitutes insubordination or dereliction of duties, in either case in the reasonable 
judgment of the Board of Trustees. 

 
C. In the event Ms. Ferguson is terminated without cause as Town Administrator, during 

the term of this Employment Agreement, she shall be entitled to two (2) months’ 
severance pay.  

 
Section 6: Resignation 
 
The Town Administrator may elect to terminate this Agreement without cause by giving the Town 
written notice of her intention to terminate. The Town Administrator shall not be entitled to any 
severance if she makes such an election. Such notice shall specify a termination date that shall not 
be less than ten (10) days from the date the notice is given. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
both parties, the Town Administrator shall continue to perform the duties of the Town 
Administrator, as described herein, on a full-time basis until the termination date specified in the 
notice. The Town Administrator shall continue to receive compensation and benefits herein 
provided for so long as she continues to perform such duties. All compensation and employee 
benefits shall cease to accrue on the termination date or upon such earlier date when the Town 
Administrator is no longer performing the duties of her office as described herein. 
 
Section 7:  Hours of Work 
 
The Town expects and the Town Administrator agrees that the Town Administrator's hours of 
employment must be flexible and sometimes will be long and irregular. The Town Administrator's 
duties hereunder will often require her attendance at and participation in meetings and other 
functions which occur during evening hours and occasionally on weekends. The Administrator 
understands and agrees that she will not be entitled to overtime pay, or any other form of financial 
remuneration over and above the Base Salary and benefits provided for herein with respect to the 
performance of her duties and her long hours of service hereunder, and that she shall be deemed 
an "exempt" employee under the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.  Given Ms. 
Ferguson’s service as both Town Administrator and Town Clerk, she shall also be considered an 
“exempt” employee while serving as the Town Clerk.   
 
 
 

73

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 5 of 7 

Section 8: Outside Activities 
 
Notwithstanding Ms. Ferguson’s service as the Town Clerk, the employment provided for by this 
Agreement shall be the Town Administrator's sole employment. 
 
Section 9: Indemnification 
 
The Town Administrator shall be defended and indemnified in her actions undertaken in her 
official capacity as Town Administrator pursuant to all insurance coverages maintained by the 
Board and pursuant to the terms of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act.  The Town 
Administrator shall, however, not be indemnified for any act or omission that is willful and wanton, 
as those terms are defined under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act. 
 
Section 10: Bonding 
 
Town shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of the Town Administrator 
under any law or ordinance. 
 
Section 11: Other Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 
The Town, only upon agreement with the Town Administrator, shall fix any such other terms and 
conditions of employment, as it may determine from time to time, relating to the performance of 
the Town Administrator, provided such terms and conditions are not inconsistent with or in conflict 
with the provisions of this Agreement, the Municipal Code or any other law. 
 
Section 12: Notices 
 
Notice pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by depositing in the custody of the United States 
Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 

(1) TOWN:  Town of Paonia  
    c/o Mayor  
    P.O. Box 460 
    Paonia, CO 81428 
  
(2) EMPLOYEE:  J. Corinne Ferguson  
    224 Dorris Avenue              
    Paonia, CO 81428 
 

Alternatively, notice required pursuant to this Agreement may be personally served in the same 
manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of 
personal service or as the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of transmission in the 
United States Postal Service. 
 
 
 

74

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 6 of 7 

Section 13: General Provisions 
 
A. Integration. This Agreement sets forth and establishes the entire understanding between the 

Town and the Town Administrator relating to the employment of the Town Administrator 
by the Town. Any prior discussions or representations by or between the parties are merged 
into and rendered null and void by this Agreement. The parties by mutual written agreement 
may amend any provision of this Agreement during the term of the Agreement. Such 
amendments shall be incorporated and made a part of this Agreement. 

 
B. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding on the Town and the Town Administrator 

as well as their heirs, assigns, executors, personal representatives and successors in interest. 
 
C. Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective June 1, 2020. 
 
D. Severability. The invalidity or partial invalidity of any portion of this Agreement will not 

affect the validity of any other provision. In the event that any provision of this Agreement 
is held to be invalid, the remaining provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect 
as if they have been executed by both parties subsequent to the expungement or judicial 
modification of the invalid provision. 

 
E. Waiver. The waiver by either party of any breach of any provision of this Agreement shall 

not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of that same or any other 
provision. 

 
F. The parties agree and acknowledge that in the event of a dispute concerning this Agreement 

or the Interim Town Administrator's employment, venue for any such dispute shall be proper 
in Delta County District Court. Further, the parties agree that prior to becoming involved in 
any litigation regarding this Agreement or the Interim Town Administrator's employment, 
they shall first attend mediation to attempt to resolve any such dispute and use their best 
efforts to resolve the same. To the extent mediation fails and/or litigation ensues, the party 
that substantially prevails shall be entitled to full reimbursement of all reasonable legal fees 
and costs, including expert and attorney’s fees if any, whether related to mediation or 
litigation. 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, the Board of Trustees approves this Agreement at a regular meeting of 
the Board of Trustees this 9th day of June, 2020.  
 
 
       TOWN OF PAONIA 
 
       By:       
         Mary Bachran, Mayor 
 
 
Signatures continued on next page.  
       TOWN ADMINISTRATOR 

75

6.



 

Employment Agreement - Page 7 of 7 

 
 
       By:       

       J. Corinne Ferguson,  
     Town Administrator 
 
Attest:  _____________________________  
    Name 
   Deputy Town Clerk 
 

  

76

6.



TOWN ADMINISTRATOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROCEDURE 
 

Purpose of Evaluation 
 
The purpose of the performance evaluation process to be conducted by and between the Board 
of Trustees and the Town Administrator are: 
 

1. To strengthen the relationship between the Board and Town Administrator 
 

2. To provide a mechanism for regular evaluation 
 

3. To identify performance objectives for the Town Administrator 
 

4. To provide feedback to the Administrator and identify areas where improvements 
may be needed. 

 
Frequency 
 
The Board will evaluate the Town Administrator at least annually.  The schedule for the 
evaluation will be established jointly by the Board of Trustees and Town Administrator. 
 
Evaluation Procedure 
 
The evaluation procedure remains at the will and direction of the Board of Trustees and may be 
modified at any time.  In general, the evaluation process will include the following steps. 
 

1. The Town Administrator will inform the Mayor when the time for an annual 
evaluation has occurred. 
 

2. The Mayor will ask Board Members to complete the evaluation form prior to the 
evaluation session.  Additional input may be solicited from staff and/or the public. 
 

3. The Personnel Committee will meet to compile the individual performance 
evaluations. 
 

4. The Board will conduct a closed session evaluation with the Town Administrator 
(and Board Members) to discuss the Administrator’s performance, future 
performance goals and objectives for the Administrator. 
 

5. The performance evaluation and any subsequent actions will be placed in the Town 
Administrator’s employee personnel file.  
 
 
 

77

6.



 
 

2020 Town Administrator Evaluation Schedule 
 
 

 
1. June 2 - Evaluation form reviewed by Personnel Committee, Mayor and Town 

Administrator. 
 

2. June 9 - Board review and approval of form and schedule. 
 

3. September 15-30.  Form distributed to Board and posted on website.  Public 
comment solicited.  
 

4. October 1.  All completed forms and comments to Personnel committee for 
assimilation. 

 
5. October 5 – 9.   Board review of compiled report  

 
6. October 13 - Executive session Evaluation with Board and Town Administrator  
 
 
   

                                                                                     
 

 
 

78

6.



 1 

Town Administrator Evaluation 
July 29, 2019 – September 30, 2020 

 
 
 
Objectives for the Period: 
 
 Administration and Governmental Affairs 

1. Transition to new Town management 
2. Update Town Comprehensive Plan 
3. Refinance USDA bonds 
4. Obtain DOLA grants 
5. Space to Create 
6. Prepare for November election    

 
 Water 

1. Asset inventory and infrastructure analysis support 
2. Arch Coal – due diligence 
3. Meters installed when developing 

  
 Public Works 

1. Routine maintenance schedules 
2. Timely compliance reporting 
3. Park maintenance schedule 
4. Weed mitigation 
5. Town entry and commercial area maintenance 
6. Sidewalks 

 
 Businesses and Community 

1. COVID management 
2. Communication with public 
3. Waivers for business openings 
4. Easing temporary signage regulations 
5. Potential street closings for outdoor dinners 

  
 Management of Staff 

1. Defined job descriptions/objectives 
2. Opportunities for advance training 
3. Regular evaluations 

 
 Trustee Relations 

1. Communication and updates – keep Trustees in the loop; seek Trustee input 
2. Advice and analysis of options for pending Board decisions/items 
3. Support Mayor’s effort to have a staff/board retreat 

79

6.



 2 

Narrative Evaluation 
 

 
1. How effective was the Administrator in achieving short-term goals for this rating period? 

 
 
 
 

2. What would you identify as the Administrator’s strength(s), expressed in terms of the 
main results achieved during the rating period? 

 
 
 
 

3. What performance area(s) would you identify as an area for improvement? 
 
 
 
 

4. What constructive suggestions or assistance can you offer the Administrator to enhance 
her performance? 

 
 
 
 

5. What other comments do you have for the Administrator: e.g., priorities, expectations.  
List two to three performance objectives which you feel are important for the Town 
Administrator to work on for the coming year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6. On a scale of 1 to 10, how would you rate the Administrator’s overall performance 
during this period? 

              

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

80

6.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Personnel Liaison Group Community Member Mayoral Appointment 

Summary:   

The Personnel Liaison Group is a committee made up of one staff member, one community 

member, and one Board member from the personnel committee. The community member is 

appointed by the Mayor. One letter of interest was received and included in the packet. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

81

7.



         June 1, 2020 

Dear Ms. Mayor, Trustees and Ms. Ferguson: 

Please accept this Letter of Interest for a  “community member seat” on the Personnel 
Liaison Group and for a position on the Paonia Finance and Personnel Committee. 

I have been an active member of the Community for the past 15 years and have been 
involved with Town projects since 2012.  I am committed to helping Paonia be the best it 
can be in becoming  a sustainable small-town community. 

I offer the following life experience the qualifies me to participate on both committees: 

• Over 10 years in Supervisory and Management experience including responsibility for 
developing and maintain annual budgets of over $20M, managing up to 20 field 
technical sales representatives and managing cross-functional teams. I have recruited, 
interviewed, hired, trained, managed, coached, promoted and terminated numerous 
employees in my time as a manager. 

• Organizational and Business Consultant for more than 10 years with clients in 
government and private sectors. Projects ranged from strategic planning to personnel 
training and team development to process improvement.  

• Founding member of several local nonprofits including West Elk Community Fund, 
Friends of the Paradise Theatre, Western Colorado Food & Ag Council and Kids Pasta 
Project.  Served on Board of Directors and for Western Colorado Community 
Foundation, Black Canyon Regional Land Trust, Leroux Creek Planning Committee, 
Downtown Colorado Inc. among others. 

• Consulted with local and statewide municipalities and NGOs since 2005.  This 
included work with Downtown Colorado Inc. performing downtown assessments for 
Colorado towns including Creede, Parachute and Silverton.  Served as Co-Chair for 
2019 Western Slope Rural Philanthropy Days and coordinated nonprofits from five 
counties . 

• Worked with the Town of Paonia on the Community Heart and Soul process as 
Program Advisor (2012-14) and initiated Paonia’s Space to Create (2016-present).  Led 
the process for the Town for grant applications including USDOT, NEA, COEDIT, 
GOCO, CDOT, WQIF, AARP and DOLA. 

A full resume is available upon request.  I look forward to hearing from you. 

Sincerely yours, 

Elaine M. Brett 

P.O.  BOX 1682 PAONIA,  COLORADO 81428 EMBRETT@ICLOUD.COM

82

7.

mailto:embrett@icloud.com
mailto:embrett@icloud.com


 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Planning Commission Vacancy Mayoral Appointment 

Summary:   

The Planning Commission has two open seats – to be appointed by the Mayor.  Three letters of 

interest were received. 

 

Article 6 Sec. 2-6-30. - Membership; terms. 

The Planning Commission shall consist of five (5) members, all of whom must be residents of 

the Town, including two (2) elected members consisting of the Mayor and one (1) member of 

the Board of Trustees appointed by the Mayor. The remaining three (3) members shall be 

appointed by the Mayor. The terms of such three (3) members shall be fixed and designated by 

the Mayor to end at two (2) years from the last municipal election at the time of appointment, 

with the terms of office staggered. The terms for the Mayor and the member of the Board of 

Trustees shall continue until their successors are duly elected and qualified, at which time 

elected members of the Board shall be designated to serve on the Planning Commission for 

terms coincident with their terms of office as Mayor or as a member of the Board of Trustees. 

As terms expire, new or reappointed members shall be appointed for two-year terms of office 

at such time as the terms of those previously appointed expire.  

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

83

8.



1

Corinne Ferguson

From: Barbara Heck <figjammer315@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, June 2, 2020 3:10 PM
To: Corinne Ferguson
Subject: T of P Planning

Greetings, 
This email  is informing the Town of Paonia, that I (Barbara Heck) would like to stay on the Town of Paonia Panning 
Board for another term.  After time serving the town, I know that I have the experience and the history of our town's 
planning issues.  After 25 years serving on Planning issues, both county and town, I can honestly say that I can be fair on 
the Board. 
Thank you, Barbara Heck   

84

8.



337 Main Avenue - P.O. Box 1809 Paonia, CO 81428  
lucy@odiseanet.com   (970) 270-7353 

20 May 2020 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
214 GRAND AVENUE PAONIA,  CO  

Ms. Mayor and Board of Trustees, 

I want to express my interest in continuing to serve on the Planning Commission as my 

appointment is due to expire in June of this year.  Please don’t hesitate to contact me with any 

questions in this regard.  Thank you. 

SINCERELY,  

 
 
LUCY HUNTER,  P.E. 

85

8.



86

8.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Personnel Handbook Modification – Addition of Protection from 

Retaliation Language 

Summary:   

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

87

9.



 

Revised 5/27/2020 

 

Additional language for the Personnel Policy 
 

The Board of Trustees hereby determines and declares that employees of 

the Town of Paonia should never suffer retaliation from their supervisors 

or appointing authorities for communicating information about illegal 

activities, unethical practices or other forms of official misconduct 

experienced or witnessed by employees in the scope of their 

employment. The interests of the Town and the larger interests of the 

Citizens of Paonia are served by encouraging all employees to speak out 

fully and frankly on any official misconduct which comes to their 

attention without fear of retaliation. Therefore, the purpose of this 

Article is to eliminate the possibility or the threat of any adverse 

employment action that may be taken against any Town employee for 

reporting such information.  

 

Employees reporting illegal activities or misconduct are required to take 

the issue though the chain of command, for example: an issue involving 

a co-worker to goes to the supervising Department Head. If an issue 

involves a Department Head, it is taken to the Town Administrator. If an 

employee disagrees with the Town Administrator decision regarding a 

report or appeal it can be referred to the Personnel Liaison Committee 

for a final decision. Issues involving retaliation go directly to the Town 

Administrator or, if involving the Town Administrator, directly to the 

Personnel Liaison Committee. 

88

9.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Discussion of Resuming In-Person Meetings and Public Participation 

Options 

Summary:  Preliminary discussion regarding procedures for resuming in-person Board 

meetings and options for community participation. 

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

89

10.



 

corinne@townofpaonia.com 

 
 

From the desk of: Corinne Ferguson 

r.e. Board Meetings 

          06/04/2020 

Over the past several weeks both staff and the Board have been discussing options for 

Board meetings due to COVID-19 related state orders and recommendations.  While I don’t 

believe any of us anticipated the length of time we would be operating under these 

mandates, here we are, and with no clear end in sight.   

Several options have been considered such as: 

 Operating under the governmental clause and having regular in building meetings. 

 Limiting Board and Staff members in meetings with entry and exit as needed. 

 Hosting attendees at a secondary location. 

 In-person staff and Board – electronic attendance and participation from attendees. 

 Meeting outdoors. 

 

Each option has been considered and discussed with other parties involved, as necessary.  It 

is vitally important that Town business continue, and that public involvement and input is 

received.   

Returning to business as usual is appealing, but puts all in attendance, as well as those they 

encounter, at risk for COVID-19, should anyone be a carrier. We are also asking people to 

choose whether it is more important to them to attend and participate in their government 

or protect their personal health in such an uncertain time.  I believe we are also stating to 

90

10.



 

2 

our community that the expectation is that they adhere to the requirements imposed – 

which are necessary for the health, safety, and welfare of everyone – while we do not.  

Limiting staff and hosting at a secondary location, which grants us in-person contact - also 

comes with several concerns, some of which are timeliness of participation, access to all 

individuals, contact with areas that cannot be sanitized between speakers, and limited 

staffing available to monitor the second site and bring speakers to Town Hall. 

In-person staff and Board with electronic attendance and participation from attendees does 

not address the Board concern that some topics should allow for in-person communication 

and can prove to be difficult to make sure all are able to call in or link in, as well as make 

comments and ask questions in the fluid manner in-person meetings offer. 

Outdoors meetings are appealing, but make it difficult to broadcast, record, and offer 

electronic attendance online, and no way for telephone attendance.   

 

With all of these options and concerns in mind it is my recommendation that until such a 

time as the State or County – operating through public health orders from CDPHE – increase 

the numbers permitted to gather, the Board continue to hold meetings via online platforms, 

and consider holding work sessions regarding hot topics, such as building regulations or 

marijuana shops within Town in an outdoor location.  This will allow for in-person 

conversation, comment, and questions from those who choose to attend, and gives those 

who chose not to attend another chance to speak when the items are on regular agendas. 

 

Thank you for your time, 

 

Corinne Ferguson 

  

91

10.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Minnesota Creek Sewer Line Mitigation Bid Award 

Summary:   

 

Five companies were direct solicited to present a bid for the Minnesota Creek Bank Sewer 

Line Repair.  Three bids were received. All bids received were timely and competitive.  No 

differences in services notable and we anticipate no major changes.  Staff, in conjunction with 

the Public Works Committee, recommend awarding the contract to Tribble & Sons, LLC in 

the amount of $21,600. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

92

11.



93

11.



94

11.



95

11.



96

11.



97

11.



98

11.



99

11.



100

11.



101

11.



102

11.



103

11.



104

11.



105

11.



106

11.



107

11.



108

11.



109

11.



110

11.



111

11.



112

11.



113

11.



114

11.



115

11.



116

11.



117

11.



118

11.



119

11.



120

11.



121

11.



122

11.



123

11.



124

11.



125

11.



126

11.



127

11.



128

11.



129

11.



130

11.



131

11.



132

11.



133

11.



134

11.



135

11.



136

11.



137

11.



138

11.



139

11.



140

11.



141

11.



142

11.



143

11.



144

11.



145

11.



146

11.



147

11.



148

11.



149

11.



150

11.



151

11.



152

11.



153

11.



154

11.



155

11.



156

11.



157

11.



158

11.



159

11.



160

11.



161

11.



162

11.



163

11.



164

11.



165

11.



166

11.



167

11.



168

11.



169

11.



170

11.



171

11.



172

11.



173

11.



174

11.



175

11.



176

11.



177

11.



178

11.



179

11.



180

11.



181

11.



182

11.



183

11.



184

11.



185

11.



186

11.



187

11.



188

11.



189

11.



190

11.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Resolution 2020-11 Local Disaster Declaration Extension 

Summary:   

 

The current local disaster declaration extension expires Tuesday, June 9th, 2020.  The 

extension is through August 25th.  

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

191

12.



 

Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 2020-11 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, 

ORDER DECLARING A LOCAL DISASTER IN AND FOR THE TOWN OF PAONIA 

  

WHEREAS, the Colorado Disaster Emergency Act, C.R.S. § 24-33.5-701, et. seq. (the 

“Act”), provides procedures for statewide and local prevention of, preparation for, response to, 

and recovery from disasters; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709, a local disaster emergency may be 

declared unilaterally by the principal executive officer of a political subdivision; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2-2-20(b) of the Town Municipal Code, the Mayor is 

designated as the executive head of the Town; and 

  

WHEREAS, this Declaration is issued pursuant to the authority granted to the Mayor of 

the Town of Paonia and issued with the approval and support of the Board of Trustees for the 

Town; and 

   

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, an "emergency" is an unexpected event that places life 

or property in danger and requires an immediate response through the use of state and community 

resources and procedures, and an "emergency epidemic" is cases of an illness or condition, 

communicable or noncommunicable, caused by bioterrorism, pandemic influenza, or novel and 

highly fatal infectious agents or biological toxins; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709, this Declaration activates the response and 

recovery aspects of any applicable disaster emergency plans and authorizes the furnishing of aid 

and assistance under such plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709(1), the declaration of a local emergency 

shall not be continued beyond a period of seven (7) days or removed except by action of the 

governing board of the political subdivision for the Town, the Board of Trustees; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709(1), any order declaring, continuing, or 

terminating a local disaster "shall be given prompt and general publicity and shall be filed promptly 

with the county clerk and recorder, the [Town] clerk ... and with the office of emergency 

management"; and 

 

WHEREAS, because of the COVID-19 pandemic, which was recognized by the Governor 

of the State of Colorado on March 10, 2020, the Town is suffering and has suffered a disaster 

emergency as defined in the Act. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED on this 9th day of June, 2020, that a 

disaster emergency is declared in and for the Town of Paonia, beginning on March 10, 2020, and 

ending on August 25th, 2020 unless extended or amended by action of the Board of Trustees for 

the Town.   

192

12.



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Declaration shall be given prompt and general 

publicity, filed immediately with the office of the Delta County Emergency Manager and a copy 

filed with the Delta County Clerk and Recorder, as well as to the Colorado Office of Emergency 

Management. 
 

 

 

 
Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 
 

J. Corinne Ferguson, Town Clerk 

193

12.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Resolution 2020-12 Administrative Modification of Liquor License & 

Encroachment for Outdoor Dining in Town Right-of-Way 

Summary:   

 

In order to support our businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic I respectfully request the 

Board of Trustees adopt Resolution 2020-12 – granting permission for the creation and 

implementation of appropriate processes for restaurants to request use of public right-of-way 

as an extension of their dining and liquor license premise.  

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

194

13.



Page 1 of 2 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-12 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF 

PAONIA, COLORADO, AMENDING ITS LOCAL DISASTER DECLARATION 

TO PROVIDE FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE MODIFICATION OF LIQUOR 

LICENSED PREMISES AND THE ISSUANCE OF ENCROACHMENT 

LICENSES TO FACILITATE OUTDOOR DINING WITHIN THE TOWN’S 

RIGHTS-OF-WAY. 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (“Paonia”) is a statutory municipality organized under Article 

XX of the Colorado Constitution and with the authority of the Town of Paonia Municipal Code (the 

“Code”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor issued an Order Declaring a Local Disaster (the “Order”) on March 10, 

2020; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Order was issued pursuant to the authority granted to the Mayor, and issued 

with the approval and support of the Board of Trustees; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 6, Article 1 of the Paonia Municipal Code, the Liquor 

Licensing Authority for the Town is the Board of Trustees, and the Town Clerk is vested with the 

authority to assist the Liquor Licensing Authority by receiving all applications and exercising discretion 

in forwarding matters to the Liquor Licensing Authority; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 11-1-80 of the Paonia Municipal Code, the Town Clerk may 

authorize encroachment over or upon the public right-of-way by the issuance of an street closure permit; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 15, 2020, due to public health concerns raised by the presence of COVID-

19 in the state, the Liquor Enforcement Division for the State of Colorado issued Emergency Regulation 

47-302 in Bulletin 20.07 (“Emergency Regulation 47-302”) establishing procedures for a licensee 

seeking to temporarily modify the licensed premises, including into outdoor areas contiguous or adjacent 

to the existing licensed premises; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Emergency Regulation 47-302, a licensee must seek permission of the 

relevant Local Licensing Authority in addition to the State Licensing Authority to temporarily modify its 

licensed premises to facilitate social distancing by employees and customers; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to facilitate the business of licensees and be consistent with Emergency 

Regulation 47-302, the Board of Trustees wishes to authorize administrative review and approval of 

modifications to licensed premises; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to facilitate the business needs during periods of mandated social 

distancing, the Board of Trustees wishes to authorize administrative review and approval of permits to 

encroach in the Town’s rights-of-way; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees finds and declares that it is in the best interests of the health, 

welfare, and safety of the residents of the Town of Paonia to permit administrative review and approval 

of liquor licensed premises modifications and permits to encroach in the Town’s rights-of-way to 

195

13.



Page 2 of 2 

 

accommodate business during the local disaster emergency and mandatory social distancing. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, 

Colorado: 

 

Section 1. The above recitals are hereby incorporated as findings by the Town of Paonia.  

 

Section 2. The Order Declaring a Local Disaster in a for the Town of Paonia is hereby amended 

to provide the following: 

 

A. The Town Clerk is authorized to administratively review and approve 

modifications of premises licensed pursuant to Article 6 of the Paonia Municipal Code, in 

accordance with Emergency Regulation 47-302. 

 

B. The Town Clerk is authorized to administratively create, review and approve 

temporary permits to encroach upon the Town’s rights-of-way in order to facilitate expansion of 

outdoor seating areas for dining, in accordance with Colorado Department of Public Health and 

Environment social distancing requirements. 

 

Section 3. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall excuse a licensee from complying 

with applicable provisions of Article 6 of the Paonia Municipal Code or under state law, Sections 44-3-

101 et seq. and 44-4-101 et seq., C.R.S, or other conditions of the license. 

 

Section 4. This Resolution shall stay in effect until termination of the Town’s emergency 

declaration. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this _____ day of June 2020. 

 

 

TOWN OF Paonia, COLORADO 

 

 

By    

Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

 

Corinne Ferguson, Town Clerk 

196

13.



 

June 5, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Administrator’s Report 

Public Works 

Police Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VW – verbal warning 

WW – written warning 

CIT - citation 

CAA – clear adult arrest 

UTL – unable to locate 

UNF - unfounded 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

197

14.



Paonia Police Department
Law Incident Table, by Date and Time

Date Occurred:   05/15/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
06:29:09 CIVIL PROBLEM PPD PPD
11:01:24 VIN INSPECTION

Address
 BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO 
 GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   05/16/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:52:07 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
11:58:41 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
13:55:17 BURGLARY PPD PPD CIT
15:14:53 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD UNF
15:52:57 Traffic Stop PPD PPD         CIT
20:42:23 Traffic Stop

Address
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO
POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO
50 Block of Samuel Wade RD., Paonia, CO 
50 SAMUEL WADE RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3 CIT 

Total Incidents for this Date: 6

Date Occurred:   05/17/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
01:05:47 Information PPD DPD UNF
10:05:38 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
10:39:34 ALARM PPD PPD
11:53:28 CRIM MISCHIEF PPD PPD
20:46:06 HARASSMENT

Address
GRAND AVE, Delta, CO
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO
3RD ST, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
200 BLOCK GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO

PPD PPD VW
Total Incidents for this Date: 5

Date Occurred:   05/18/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:22:05 911 PPD PPD
13:51:26 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
13:52:47 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
14:16:08 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
14:18:24 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
16:25:43 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
16:32:49 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
17:46:48 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
18:43:31 Information

Address
3RD ST, Paonia, CO
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO  
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO  
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO  
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO  
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO  
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO  
3RD ST, Paonia, CO
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD UNF

21:24:32 AGENCY ASSIST HIGHWAY 133; MILE POST 13, Paonia, CO PPD GSO
Total Incidents for this Date: 10

198

14.



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 2 of 4

Date Occurred:   05/19/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
01:24:31 911/hangup PPD PPD
09:39:44 CRIM MISCHIEF PPD PPD
12:09:38 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
13:12:41 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
13:37:36 Information

ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
2ND ST, Paonia, CO
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO 
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

16:20:36 WELFARE CHECK OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
17:57:19 FIRE MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
18:50:58 SHOPLIFTING PPD WW
19:24:40 AGENCY ASSIST DIST3
19:41:57 CIVIL PROBLEM

2ND, Paonia, CO             PPD
PRICE RD, Paonia, CO       PPD 
2ND ST, Paonia, CO     PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 10

Date Occurred:   05/20/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
09:57:49 Parking Problem PPD PPD WW
11:45:34 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
11:59:01 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
13:15:06 Code Enforce

Address
200 Block of Onarga AVE., Paonia, CO  
3RD ST, Paonia, CO
3RD ST, Paonia, CO
3RD ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD WW

15:41:40 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD PPD
17:20:52 AGENCY ASSIST

MEADOWBROOK BLVD, Paonia, CO  
MATHEWS LN, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

21:03:19 Traffic Stop PPD DIST3 VW
22:03:25 911/hangup

50 BLOCK OF SAMUEL WADE, Paonia, CO  
DELTA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD UNF

Total Incidents for this Date: 8

Date Occurred:   05/21/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:01:55 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
11:34:33 Parking Problem PPD PPD WW
13:30:28 Parking Problem PPD PPD WW
14:10:40 Code Enforce

Address
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO  
BLOCK POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO 
300 BLOCK BOX ELDER, Paonia, CO  
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD WW

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   05/22/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
09:56:10 Parking Problem PPD PPD WW
13:24:06 Parking Problem PPD PPD WW
16:45:50 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
22:29:21 TRESPASS

Address
RIO GRANDE AVE, Paonia, CO 
50 BLOCK West 4TH St, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO 
4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

199

14.



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 3 of 4

Date Occurred:   05/23/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
03:30:09 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD UTL
15:40:23 CRIM MISCHIEF PPD
18:00:42 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
18:12:38 Traffic Stop

Address
NORTH FORK AVE, Paonia, CO 
Poulus Park, Paonia, CO
300 BLOCK 5TH St, Paonia, CO 
100 BLOCK 2ND St, Paonia, CO PPD PPD CIT

21:04:16 AGENCY ASSIST PPD GSO
22:25:34 AGENCY ASSIST

MINNESOTA CREEK RD, Paonia, CO 
M RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

Total Incidents for this Date: 6

Date Occurred:   05/24/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:58:44 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
12:05:38 Traffic Stop

Address
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO 
400 Block North Fork AVE., Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW

14:10:59 THEFT FROM AUTO GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   05/26/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:26:56 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
15:25:46 VIN INSPECTION PPD DIST3
16:14:08 Parking Problem

PPD PPD WW16:46:19 VIN INSPECTION
PPD PPD19:29:22 Parking Problem PPD PPD WW

20:42:10 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
21:11:51 DUI PPD DIST3 CAA

22:36:40 Noise Complaint

Address
ALDER CT, Paonia, CO
LAMBORN MESA RD; Colorado, Paonia, CO
100 BLOCK ONARGA AVE., Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO

RIO GRANDE AVE, Paonia, CO
NORTH FORK AVE, Paonia, CO
HIGHWAY 133, Paonia, CO

MINNESOTA AVE, Paonia, CO
PPD PPD UTL

Total Incidents for this Date: 8

Date Occurred:   05/27/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:52:35 VIN INSPECTION

Address
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   05/28/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
12:18:50 THEFT FROM AUTO ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
15:19:55 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
22:14:46 CITIZEN ASSIST

BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO 
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD UNF

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

200

14.



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 4 of 4

Report Includes:
All dates between `00:00:01 05/15/20` and `00:00:01 06/01/20`, All agencies matching `PPD`, All disposition's, All natures,
All location codes, All cities

Date Occurred:   05/29/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:16:30 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
15:36:23 Information PPD PPD
15:37:42 CIVIL PROBLEM PPD PPD
18:29:38 Medical/transfe

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
MEADOWBROOK BLVD, Paonia, CO 

GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
DELTA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   05/30/20
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
10:42:51 ANIMAL PROBLEM PPD PPD
12:04:48 CIVIL PROBLEM

400 Block of Grand AVE., Paonia, CO  
PRICE RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3 ACT

20:33:07 ANIMAL PROBLEM 2ND ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   05/31/20
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:36:01 Medical/transfe PPD PPD
20:20:15 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3
22:58:31 Noise Complaint

Address
5TH ST, Paonia, CO 
O RD, Paonia, CO 
4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Total reported: 80

VW- 4, WW- 23, CIT- 3, CAA- 1, UNF- 1, UTL- 1

201

14.



202

14.



203

14.



204

14.



205

14.



206

14.



207

14.



208

14.



209

14.



210

14.



211

14.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Mayor’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

212

15.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Finance & Personnel 
Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 
Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 
Space to Create 
Tree Board 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

213

16.



 

June 3, 2020 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Adjournment 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

214

17.


	Top
	.	One Delta County Presentation
	ASF - One Delta County Presentation
	One Delta County Info Packet

	1.	ASF - Visitors
	ASF 4 - Visitors &amp; Guests

	2.	One Delta County - Economic Development Participation
	ASF - One Delta County – Economic Development Participation & Intergovernmental Agreement

	3.	ASF 5 - Consent Agenda
	ASF 5 - Consent Agenda
	051220_RegMeeting_draft

	4.	ASF 8 -Treasurer's Report
	ASF 8 -Treasurer&#39;s Report

	5.	ASF 8 - Disbursements
	ASF 9 - Disbursements
	Disbursements_Redacted

	6.	ASF - Town Administrator Contract Ratification
	ASF - Town Administrator
	Administrator Contract
	Town Admin Eval Procedure  Schedule
	Town Administrator Evaluation-Revised

	7.	Personnel Liaison Group Appointment - June 9th
	ASF - Personnel Liaison Group Community Member Mayoral Appointment
	PLG - LOI Town of Paonia

	8.	Planning Commission Appointments - June 9th
	ASF - Planning Commission Vacancy Mayoral Appointment
	B_Heck-Planning Commission
	L_Hunter-Planning Commission
	Suzanne Watson_Planning Commission_Redacted

	9.	ASF - Protection from Retaliation
	ASF - Personnel Handbook Modification – Addition of Protection from Retaliation Language
	Protection from Retaliation

	10.	Board Meetings
	ASF - Discussion of Resuming In-Person Meetings and Public Participation Options
	Board Meeting Recommendation

	12.	Resolution 2020-11 Local Disaster Declaration Extension - June 9th
	ASF - Resolution 2020-11 Local Disaster Declaration Extension
	Resolution 2020-11 Town Local Disaster Declaration Extension

	13.	ASF - Resolution 2020-12 Administrative Modification of Liquor License and Encroachment for Outdoor Dining in town Right-of-Way
	ASF - Resolution 2020-12 Administrative Modification of Liquor License & Encroachment for Outdoor Dining in Town Right-of-Way
	Resolution 2020-12 Encroachment Dining

	11.	Minnesota Creek Sewerline Mitigation Bid Award
	ASF - Minnesota Creek Sewer Line Mitigation Bid Award
	Kendall Excavating Bid_05262020
	Roop Excavating Bid_05222020
	Tribble Bid_05262020

	14.	ASF 5 - Staff Reports
	ASF 7 - Staff Reports
	Blotter (002)
	Julie Huffman_Redacted
	Bruce Joss_Redacted

	15.	ASF 6 - Mayor's Report
	ASF 6 - Mayor&#39;s Report

	16.	ASF 10 -Committee Reports
	ASF 10 -Committee Reports

	17.	ASF 11 -Adjournment
	ASF 11 -Adjournment

	Bottom

